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4 MEMENTO FOR MY NEPHEW,
Andrew George Tood,
.WHOM - MAY THE PQWER ETERNAL
PROTECT AND PRESERVE,
TO BECOME, AS LIFE MATURES,"

A GOOD MAN,
AND A BRAVE AND KINDLY GENTLEMAN,

FROM HI1S AFFECTIONATE AUNT,

Jranggs Fany Fontagn.
- Apri. 1861.

“ A picture is the paft,”
In lights and fhadows falling,
And all this life a myftery,
Wherein, Faith, fubmiffive,
Veils her fight, and queftions never
The fovereignty nor grace of God.







THis Hiftory of the Woods of Largo was commenced
with the intention only of clearing away, chiefly for my
brother’s fake, upon hearing it exclaimed after reading
Tait’s Memoir, ¢ Then we are not defcended from the
¢ old Sir Andrew after all,” of clearing away the doubts
to which this Memoir had thus rather painfully given
birth. As time went on, and opportunity was found for
looking over the aid to be obtained from proofs exifting,
and words and events and incidents were recalled of which
memory had been alone the keeper, the fubje& increafed
gradually towards many others, fome of which, in unifon
with my own feelings, I have ventured to exprefs. For this
I mutft truft to be pardoned fhould they be deemed irrela-
tive. I would even at the prefent moment, were I to confider
principally myfelf, remove much that it may not be quite
agreeable to me to bring into the view of any but thofe
moft clofely and moft perfonally related to me; but I refle&
fometimes upon the future as well as upon the paft, and
when the mental vifion is difclofed before me of the
young and interefted of generations to come, looking back
to an age that is gone, I determine to think of felf-regard
no more, and to leave unchanged thefe memorials, as
they are, and as they have arifen from all that has fallen
within my own knowledge and remembrance.



vili

It may be neceflary for me alfo to requeft indulgence
if, in reciting from different authors, I have occafionally
been inaccurate, but, not expecting publication, I had taken
fome notes lefs in their full integrity than they might have
been, yet ftill I can affirm that all are fubftantially corre&,
whilft in the laft concluding lines from Tennyfon, it has
appeared to me not wrong to fubftitute this fentence—
¢ defire of good name,” for the original, ¢ the defire of
¢¢ fame,”—for I have written in moft part for. the young,
and I would not have for them the latter fentiment,
valuable though it be, imprefled as the fentiment of
the greater importance.

L

February, 1862.

P.5.—A lofg and {orrow Wwhich babe come to me
ince the abobe wag written, in April lalk pear, habe pre-
bented until now the completion of thig work; but now
J offer it, beGeg to my little nephetw, ag a token allo of
lobe and affecion, in vebervential cave for one of the
latet wifheg of mp eber dear hugband, to our otn fon,
Dovace Qontagu,

Sareh, 1863. K7,




emorials,

&e. e,

N the pages following there are notes and obfer-
vations taken from various papers in my pofieffion,
and from printed and other records of Englifh and Scottifh
families, regarding the family of Wood of Largo, and its
connexions and extracion, which may not be without fome
value to thofe who bear that diftin&ive Family Title;
therefore I have endeavoured to place them together as
well as the materials and the uncertainties of feveral of the
attendant circumftances have permitted, with the hope that
they may be of fervice to my little nephew, and of affiftance
in giving to him efpecially, and to others of us alfo, an
increafed affurance of that long defcent, which until the
appearance of the Memoir referred to and of which an
abridgement is given, had never before been queftioned.
The notes are taken, fir/#, from the papers which were
drawn up in due legal form when our uncle Sir Mark
Wood (he was then Colonel Wood) became one of the
claimants of the Roxburghe fucceflion in the year 1803,
and the originals of which I believe to be laid afide in the
Houfe of Lords with other law forms of fimilar nature.
B
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Secondly, from the memoir in Tait’s Edinburgh Maga-
zine of the brave and loyal Admiral of Scotland, Sir An-
drew Wood of Largo.

Thirdly, from other writings and other fources which
will be mentioned, as they may come in their order.

I. It appears that in confequence of the firft Earl of

Roxburghe, Earl Robert, as he is defignated in thefe
papers, altering his fucceffion to his heirs of the female
line, ¢ for which,” it is faid in them, ¢ he executed a
¢ Deed of Nomination and Entail, authorized by his
« fovereign, with whom he ftood high in favour,” that in
confequence of this alteration of fucceffion, that when in
the year 1805 the title and eftates came to be in abeyance,
that feveral gentlemen defcended from the Kers of Cefsford
entertained the hope of obtaining them by the fame means,
that is, through the female line ; but, upon inveftigation, all
fuch claims were found to be untenable, for,

“In the faid entail of 1648, | which ancient inveftiture Arictly

though Earl Robert’s partiality for
his female iffue (his only two fons
being dead) made him favour that
female iffue the firft, yet he did not
overlook the beirs male of the family.
And into this entail he afterwards
added a tailzie, by which, failing
the heirs of Flemyng and Drum-
mond, firft called to the reverfion,
he deftined the fame to tbe beirs in
the ancient invefliture of the 1444,

limited it to the beirs male of the
Ker family. In the new deed of
entail of 1648, there were, how-
ever, upon examination, fome claufes
fuppofed to be to a great degree
indeterminate regardingthe appoint-
ment of gentlemen of the name
of Ker of the different branches,
as tutors and curators, or beirs to
the entailer’s, that is, the firft earl,
Earl Robert’s granddaughters,”

which led to confiderable legal argumentation, raifing ftill
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more the hopes of inheritance amongft their defcendants,
there being included with them, befides thofe of the family
in nearer relationthip to William the deceafed Duke, a
Mr. Bellenden Gawler Ker, General Walter Ker, Colonel
Mark Wood, and others not expreflly indicated, who
all afferted their claims, but all failed,

‘¢ becaufe of the ftri¢t limitation of | by Earl Robert, being inconteftably
the fucceflion fo the beirs male of the | proved mot to have been open to any
JSamily, the alteration made in favour | beirs of the female line before that
of his own granddaughters in 1648, | time.”

Therefore our uncle Sir Mark Wood’s claim, being
only through the female line, not comprifed in the entail of
1648, fell to the ground, with the claims alfo of all the
other claimants, faving Sir James Norcliffe Innes, the fole
heir male of Earl Robert’s (the firft Earl of Roxburghe’s)
granddaughter, Margaret. But the foundation for it,
though valuelefs, is admitted, exifting through his great
grandmother, the wife of the Rev. Alexander Wood
the Epifcopalian clergyman, who was granddaughter and
fole heir of the Rev. Robert Ker, of Ker of Cefsford, and
the daughter of Brown of Carrington, Co. Roxburghe, by
his wife, the only child of the above faid Rev. Robert Ker,
which names do not occur in the Roxburghe Papers,
fo far as thofe in my pofleflion go, but in two or three
other manufcripts, one of them being, according to a note
beneath it, in the handwriting of Andrew Wood, next
brother to John, Governor of the Ifle of Man. Further,
in thefe Roxburghe Papers, there are hiftorical details of




the family of Ker of Cefsford and of the Charter of
Entail of 1444, fome of which, though comprefled
into a lefs lengthened form, may not inappropriately be
inferted here, namely, as follows :

¢ There has lately been recovered
and produced from the Charter Room
of Fleurs, a charter of this date,
1444, granted by Andrew Ker, Do-
minus de Altenburn, with the con-
fentof Andrew Ker his fon and heir,
to another fon named James, and
his heirs, of certain portions of the
lands of Primfide, which are therein
defcribed as lying adjoining to the
lands, belonging to Thomas, a third
fon of the faid Andrew Ker, and
partly bounded by the Loch of
Lintoun. Thefe three fons were
the progenitors of the Kers of Cefl-
ford (the eldeft branch ofthe family),
of the Kers of Lintoun, and of the
Kers of Gatefhaw.

¢ The fame Andrew Ker, Lord
of Altenburn, of this date, obtained
another charter under the Great Seal
to himfelf in life-rent, and after his
death to his eldeft fon and heir and
his heirs male, of the lands of Cefl-
ford, whom failing, to other fons
therein named fucceflively, and their
heirs male; and from this period
the family feems to have borne
the title of Cefsford cxcluﬁ\}cly,
for near two centuries, and then to

have been ftyled of Roxburghe.
The eldeft fon’s fon of the aforefaid
Andrew Ker was Robert, after-
wards Sir Robert Ker of Caverton,
who pre-deceafed his father. Be-
fides Sir Robert, there is evidence
that there was a younger fon named
Mark, who acquired the lands of
Dolphington by marrying Marjorie
Ainflie, the heirefs thereof; and
of this Mark Ker, who is faid to
have taken an active concern in the
diforders of the times, there are
minutes in the Books of the Juftice-
eyre in 1502, in which he is named
as having feveral times ftood furety
toa large amount, for criminals of his
own party accufed of divers crimes.
Sir Robert’s eldeft fon, Andrew of
Cefsford, with his brother, George
of Fawdonfide, both deceafed early
in life, the former being flain at Mel-
rofe in 1526; but he left children, of
whom Mark, the fecond fon, Vicarof
Lintoun, and afterwards Commen-
dator of Newbottle, was anceftor to
the firft Earls of Lothian.

¢ The title-deeds of the family
eftates are here interrupted for about
a century ; but, from infpetion of




the Public Records, this defet can
in a great meafure be fupplied. Ac-
cordingly, it is communicated by
them that the eldeft fon of Andrew,
flain at Melrofe, dying without heirs,
_ his brother William fucceeded, which
William had two fons, Mark, who
died without iflue, and Robert, who
became firft knight, then Baron, and
thortly before his death Earl of
Roxburghe. He obtained a new
charter of the lands and barony of
Cefsford, including the Caftle of
Roxburghe, and it was by him
that the Entail of 1648 was ex-
ecuted. At this period, namely,
1648, the Cefsford family had be-
come nearly extinét in the male line.

The names of the different branches
in remainder to the fucceflion were,
however, fet forth in the tailzie
added by Earl Robert into the En-
tail of 1648, including the Kers
of Lintoun, of Fawdonfide, of
Dolphington and Littledean, the
former fometimes called Dolphing-
fton, of Primfide Loch, of Gate-
fhaw, of Kippiclaw, of Green-
head, of Graden, of Merfington,
of Hirfel, &c.; but amongft them
all at this period, the only living
heirs male were in the perfons
of the Earl Robert himfelf, in a
Ker of Fawdonfide, and accord-
ing to other records, in another Ker
of the Kers of Gatefhaw.”

The laft heir of George Ker of Fawdonfide deceafed

about the year 1660.

As heir of Mark Ker of Dol-

phington, General Ker laid his claim in 180§, but it
was excepted againft, for fuitable reafons pleaded; the
fuccefsful claimant, as before mentioned, being Sir James
Norcliffe Innes, defcended from Margaret Ker, daughter
to Harry Lord Ker, and granddaughter to Earl Robert,
which claim the Houfe of Lords, after feven years’
litigation, decided he had made out fatisfactorily, in May
1812. (Vide Debrett’s Peerage, 14th edition, 1822.)

Thofe feudal times of Scotland between the eleventh
and fixteenth centuries were not happy. Might but too
often made the right. Private quarrels, carried on with the
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ferocity and barbarity of favages, increafed the prevalent
diforder. When, in 1444, the Kers rofe to greater power,
and the Lord of Altenburn obtained his charter of the
lands of Cefsford, there feems to have been an efpecial
enmity between them and the Rutherfords, ¢ Ruyrfords,”
as they are called in an old document quoted in thefe
Roxburghe Papers. It is diftrefling to think of the
cruelties of which they were guilty, the one towards the
other, o extreme and fo terrible were they. Yet ¢ of the
¢ good faith which has been recognifed,” fays the author of
the Lives of the Lindfays, ¢ as the diftinguithing and re-
“ deeming feature of feudal times in Scotland,” they
were certainly not deftitute. ¢ Duty to the chief of the
 family ” was evidently with the Kers of Cefsford, as
with all families generally in Scotland, ‘¢ the paramount
¢ principle of ation.”

To thofe defcended from both forefathers, it will be
interefting to obferve that nearly coeval with this firft
ancient inveftiture of the Kers of Cefsford (namely,
about the middle of the fifteenth century, in 1444) was
born, in the old kirktoun of Largo, Fifethire, Sir Andrew
Wood, the brave and loyal Admiral of Scotland, and the
faithful fervant of the Kings James IIl. and James IV.,
by Abercrombie faid to have been a cadet of the ancient
family of Wood of Bonnington, in Angus.

The memoir in Tait’s Magazine commences with
thefe lines from fome ancient fong, which may very likely
ftill furvive amongft the national lays of Scotland : —
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¢ Sir Andrew Wood he was a man
Of meikle worth, and brave ;
He foucht weel for our noble King
In fchips upon the wave.”

0/d Ballad.

A fketch is then given of the Scottifh navy during the
previous hiftory of that Kingdom, when there were no
veflels appropriated to purpofes exclufively avarlike, the
early fleets of North Britain appearing to have been
merely decklefs boats; and it is not till the commence-
ment of the fifteenth century that tall fhips are anywhere
fpoken of, and little heard of the Scottifh marine until
the era of James III., fome feventy years later,

“ when Sir Andrew Wood, Knight
of Largo, bore the terror of his arms
through the Englith, Dutch, and
Flemifh feas, and twice in pitched
battles laid low the pride and
boafted prowefs of the former. Sir
Andrew was the firft of his race
who became eminent. By Aber-
crombie he is fuppofed to have been
a cadet of the ancient family of
Wood of Bonnington, in Angus, and
is generally ftated to have been born
about the middle of the fifteenth cen-
tury, probably about 1450, or a year
or two earlier, at the old kirk town
of Largo, in Fifefhire. He appears
to have begun life as a merchant-
trader. * His genius for naval war-
fare, and his longings for gallant
enterprife, had been foftered and

ftrengthened by his encounters with
Englifh, French, and Portuguefe pi-
rates in the defence of his property.
His proving fignally viétorious in
many of thefe engagements, firft
brought his talents and courage un-
der notice of the King. He foon
became diftinguithed above all the
mariners of his time for his fkill in
feamanfhip and for his knightly
bravery. The Scottifh Nelfon of
the age, he was at once the guardian
of the Northern Seas, the fcourge of
pirates, and the terror of England ;
and no man better deferves an
honourable place in the annals of
his country.

«“ He poffefled and commanded
two armed veflels, of about 300
tons burden each, the Flower and



the Yellow Caravel, both ftrong
and good fhips, fuperior to any that
had been feen in Scotland, and ad-
mirably equipped with experienced
mariners, cannon, armour, and other
warlike munition of the age. In
thefe he made voyages to the Dutch
and Hanfe towns, whither in thofe
days the Scots fent wool and hides,
bringing therefrom f{mall mercery
and haberdathery in great quanti-
ties : moreover, half of the Scottith
fhips came generally laden from
Flanders with cart-wheels and
wheelbarrows.  (See Proceffe of
Englifb Hiffory. Hackluyt.)

“ Prior to the year 1487, the
captain of the Yellow Caravel ap-
pears to have obtained the dignity
of knighthood, to have relinquithed
trading as a merchant for the fervice
of the King, and to have married a
lady named Elizabeth Lundie (pro-
bably one of the Lundies of Strath-
airlie or Balgonie, an ancient Fife-
thire name), by whom he had feve-

ral fons, two of whom became men
of eminence in after years. Thus,
from being an opulent and enter-
prifing trader, by his own talents
and the force of circumftances, the
humble fkipper of Leith became
the founder of a baronial family, a
brave warrior, an able financialift
intimately acquainted with the ma-
nagement of commercial tranfac-
tions, and a ftalwart feudal baron,
who, without abating anything of
his pride and his prerogative, re-
fufed not to adopt, in the ordering
of his eftates, fome of thofe im-
provements whofe good effeéts he
had obferved in the courfe of his
travels on the Continent. Thefe
qualities, though fomewhat incon-
fiftent, when combined, made him
an able, affetionate, and confiden-~
tial fubje@ to the good King, his
mafter, who loved and admired his
bold and manly bearing, his opennefs
of heart, and honefty of purpofe.*

““ Wood is faid to have been of a

* There feems to be a flight degree of inconfiftency or of exaggeration in all that is
exprefled in this paffage touching Sir Andrew Wood, not in regard to his great and varied
talents and the perfe@ion of his moral chara&er, but as regards his ftation in life. If he
came from an ancient family (the Woods of Bonnington in Angus, according to Aber-
crombie), he can fcarcely be defcribed as rifing immediately from the people, as the term
¢ the humble fkipper of Leith > would appear to convey ; nor, from the future hiftory of
his defcendants, can it be exally faid that he was the founder of a baronial family,
at leaft as the term is underftood in England. Yet it is evident that he had himfelf been
created a Free Baron of Scotland, and moft probably his Lineal Reprefentative inherits

ftill whatever diftin€tion that title may have conferred.

Vide p. 69.




ftately prefence, of noble features,
" and commanding figure—fo much
fo that on one occafion the young
prince, afterwards James IV., mif-
took him for the King his father,
whom the Admiral greatly refem-
bled. In the inteftine broils which
had fo melancholy a clofe on the
field of Sauchie-burn, Sir Andrew
Wood ftood faithful to his Royal
patron, James I1I., who, by a feries
of unwife attempts to humble a
proud and fierce nobility, was bring-
ing his reign to an end thus tragic
and difaftrous. Aware of the hottile
fpirit of his lowland peers, the King
refolved to look for aid in the coun-
try of the clans. He embarked in
one of Sir Andrew’s fhips in the
roads of Leith, and croffing the
Forth in April 1488, marched paft
Stirling, and pitched his ftandard
near the ancient Caftle of Black-
nefs. David, third Lord Lindefay
of the Byres, led 1000 horfe, faith
Pitfcottie, and Lord Ruthven 1000
lances, but after an indecifive fkir-
mifh, the force was difbanded. Earl
Crawford was created Duke of Mon-
trofe, and Lord Kilmaur Earl of
Glencairn, for their valour; while
Sir Andrew Wood and other loyal-
ifts were rewarded by grants of
erown land. Frefh intrigues en-
fued, and on the army of the ill-
fated King taking up its pofition

near the Burn of Sauchie, Sir An-
drew Wood failed up the filver
windings of the beautiful river,
keeping his boats near the fhore, to
receive his Sovereign fhould the tide
of battle turn againft him. Ere the
confli&t began, David Lord Lindefay
prefented the King with a charger
of unmatched fpeed, faying that
“hap what might, if he kept his
¢ feat, it would bear him to the boats
¢of Andrew Wood.” And nearly
fo it proved; for when he faw his
banners ftruck down, and all his
lines borne back and giving way,
he turned to fly to the friendly
thips whofe white fails fhining in
the fummer fun, muft have been
vifible even in the diftance to his
anxious eyes. But at Beaton’s Mill,
his horfe, being alarmed, reared
and threw to the ground the un-
fortunate monarch, Carried into
the cottage of the miller, and afking
for a prieft, the rebel friar Andrew
Borthwick, who had been clofely in
purfuit, was brought to him; and,
upon the King afking of him abfo-
lution and the facrament, the ruffian
buried a dagger in the heart of his
noble vi&tim, fled, and was never
more heard of.

“For feveral days myftery en-
veloped the fate of James III. Suf-
picion arofe that he was gone on
fhipboard, and a cartel was de-

Cc



fpatched to Sir Andrew Wood to atk
whether or not the King was on
board his veflels. The Admiral
declared he was not, and gave the
meflenger leave to fearch his fhips.
A fecond meflage was fent, requeft-
ing an interview ; but, fays Aber-
crombie, Sir Andrew was a knight,
and being mindful of the King’s
kindnefs, remained conftant in his
affetion to him, and refufed to
come without hoftages for his fafe
return.  Accordingly, John Lord
Flemying of Cumbernauld, and Lord
Seaton of Seaton, were fent to the
fleet as hoftages, and committed to
the care of his brothers by the Ad-
miral, who then was introduced to
the young prince (James IV.), fur-
rounded by a circle of the rebel
peers.  So dignified was the afpe&t
of Sir Andrew, who was arrayed
in magnificent armour, and fo ftrik-
ing his refemblance to James IIIL.,
that the prince, who had not feen
much of his unhappy fire, wept as
he approached, timidly faying, ¢Sir,
¢are you my father?> The veteran
mariner, in tears, replied, I am not
¢ your father, but his faithful fervant,
¢and the enemy of thofe who have
¢occafioned his downfall’ Again
and again the lords atked if the
King were not in one of his fhips.
¢I would to Heaven he were,’ was
the anfwer, ¢ for then he would be
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¢in fafety. Then I could defend him
¢ from the traitors who I fear have
¢ flain him, and whom I hope to fee
‘rewarded as they deferve.” After
which he withdrew, and returned
to his veflels but juft in time to fave
the noble hoftages, whom his bro-
thers, impatient at his long abfence
and too fearful for his fafety, were
preparing for vengeance.

¢ The infurgent nobles, athamed
of themfelves from the contraft Sir
Andrew Wood’s loyalty and high
fpirit formed to their own mifcon-
du&, now refolved to leave no
fcheme untried to punifh him for his
boldnefs. They fummoned all the
fkippers of Leith in council, and
commanded them ¢ to rig and man
¢all their fhips to fubdue Andrew
¢Wood;’ but the feamen replied
that the Flower and Yellow Caravel
were fo well equipped with all things
for fighting, and Captain Wood fo
fkilful in naval affairs, and fo prac-
tifed in war, and had fuch notable
artillery, that fes of the beft fhips in
Scotland would not be able to cope
with bis two. 'This ftatement com-
pelled the angry nobles to relinquith
their hope of feizing this loyal ma- *
riner, who, in defiance of them,
continued for months to cruize in
the Forth, difplaying his knight’s
pennon and the deceafed King’s
ftandard.
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¢ In the beginning of the follow-
ing year, 1489, Henry VIIL., the
Englith monarch, refolving to profit
by the diftrefled ftate of Scotland,
fent five fhips, the largeft of his
navy, to the Firths of Forth and
Clyde, oftenfibly, fay fome authori-
ties, to aid the young King againft
the nobles, but really to plunder,
fink, and burn the Scots and Flemith
traders in the harbours of thofe
eftuaries, thereby totally obftruéting
commerce, and making alfo many
deftruétive defcents upon the villages
and fithing-towns of Fyfe and Lo-
thian. The young King, pledging
his royal word for his fafety, re-
quefted Sir Andrew Wood to appear
before the Lords of the Privy Coun-
cil, to confider means for curbing
the outrages of the Englith; the
refult being that Sir Andrew en-
gaged to attack the enemy ; but the
King, remembering that they out-
numbered him by three veflels, ad-
vifed Sir Andrew to equip a ftronger
fleet. No,’ he replied, ¢ I will have
only my own two, the Flower and
<the Yellow Caravel ;’ and, with the
firt fair wind, one day in February

1489, he dropped down the river
to attack the Englith, who were
cruizing off the Duke of Albany’s
caftle and village of Dunbar, near
the mouth of the Firth." He im-
mediately engaged them, and an ob-
ftinate and fanguinary battle enfued,
of which, unfortunately, no particu-
lars are preferved. He fucceeded,
however, in making the whole fleet
prizes to the Scottifh flag, and bring-
ing them triumphantly into the roads
of Leith, prefented their commanders
to his fovereign, by whom he was
nobly rewarded, receiving from him
charters confirming all former grants,
and adding further grants of the
lands of Balbegnoth, and Cotelands
of Largo,* date March 11, 1490.
Sir Andrew obtained alfo the lands
of Netherfawfields, and other pof-
feflions ; alfo the fuperiority of Inch
Keith, the lands of Eafter Dron cum
Molendino de le Cottoun, and was

infeft in the Lordfhip of Newbyme. . - -

And by another charter under the
Great Seal of May 1491, the King
grants to Sir Andrew Wood licenfe
“to build a caftle at Largo, with gates
‘of iron, as a reward for the great

* The firft grant of lands in Largo to Sir Andrew feems to have been about the year
1480, or carlier, when the Duke of Albany was Lord High Admiral, the purport being
to enable him “to keep his fhip in repair, to pilot and convey the King and Queen
“in vifit to St. Adrian’s Chappell, in the Ifle of May, where there was a holy fhrine and
¢ celebrated well, kept by certain monks of the order of St. Auguftine.”



“fervices done and lofles fuftained by
“the faid Andrew Wood, as well as
“for the fervices there was no doubt
¢ he yet would render.” This houfe
or caftle he is reprefented to have
built by the hands of Englith pirates,
whom he had retained in durance as
bondfmen. It was engrafted on an
ancient edifice which had formerly
been a jointure houfe of the Queens
of Scotland. A fmall part of it in
ruins ftill remains.

«In further reward, Sir Andrew’s
coat armorial was augmented in
heraldic honours; and two fhips
under fail were added, in memory
of his vi€tory over the Englith fleet,
‘to the oak-tree argent, growing out
‘of a mount in bafe or,” borne upon
his fhield.” (See Lindefay’s Bla-
Jons.)* .
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“In confequence of this fignal
vi€tory of Sir Andrew, Henry of
England, being refolved on vengeance
for the proftration of his flag, offered
the then fplendid penfion of 1000l.
yearly, and other noble rewards, <to
‘any man who would capture Sir
< Andrew Wood, dead or alive;® but
his fkill and valour were now fo
celebrated, that dread reprefled the
avarice or ambition of thofe who
might have been difpofed to make
the attempt.

« About this time Sir Andrew,
with the Flower and Yellow Caravel,
failed on a voyage to Holland, to
the fhores of which he convoyed a
fleet of Scottith merchantmen.

«Jt was during this abfence of
Sir Andrew that, in anfwer to the
Englith King, one of his commanders

* In other heraldic notices it is faid that the families in North Britain of the name

of Wood all bore trees, or boughs of trees, in their coats of arms, in allufion to their
ancient name, De Boreo, or De Bofco, fo written in early records and writs, particularly
in a charter of King William to the town of Invernefs, in the fecond year of his reign,
1170, and in feveral charters of Alexander II. in 1214. In the former, Willielmus de
Bofco is mentioned as ¢ Cancellarius Regis,” Chancellor to the King. This ancient
name may further not unlikely point to a Norman origin, for, in Scotland, as in many
other countries, it appears that names in their fimilarities, are a guide both to the defcent
and connexion of families, and that thus relationfhips and pedigrees may frequently be
traced with confiderable precifion ; whilft Sir Walter Scott and other hiftorians fay that
foon after the Conqueft, in 1060, many of the Normans who came over with the
Congqueror repaired to the Scottith court, where the King, Malcolm, defiring to retain
them in his fuit, gave them grants of lands to be held for military fervices. Hence,
adds Sir Walter, many of the Scottith nobility are of Norman lineage.

The caufe of the change from the oak-tree growing out of a mount in bafe to an
oak-tree eradicated, as has of later times belonged to the Woods of Largo, is not apparent.



of great fkilland courage, Sir Stephen
Bull, at length offered, if properly
equipped, to capture and deftroy the
Scottifh Admiral on his return from
Holland. Three veflels, of great
fize and extreme ftrength, were
placed at his difpofal; and with
them Sir Stephen failed from the
Thames in the month of July
1490, running along the coaft till
he came to the Firth of Forth,
where he anchored on the leeward
fide of the Ifle of May. There
fheltered by cliffs of ftately bafaltic
columns, he lay fecure, fcreened
from the bleak winds and rough
waves of the German Ocean, whilft,
to prevent any intimation of his
prefence being given to Wood, he
feized all the boats of the villages
around, and kept fome of his own
men in waters near, to give him
early notice of every fail appearing
on the horizon.

““ Meanwhile, fuppofing that
peace had fucceeded to the truce
with England, and little antici-
pating the reception prepared for
him at the mouth of the Scottifh
fea, honeft Sir Andrew fet fail from
the port of Sluice for that of Leith ;
and, in laying up for the Forth,
firft perceived the Englifh on their
rounding from the leeward of the
. Ifle, and ftanding towards him ready
forbattle. Immediately he gave the
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orders, and buckled on his armour.
Quaint old Lindefay of Pitfcottie
gives a graphic account of this com-
bat, and of the Scottifth Admiral’s
addrefs to his crew. <My lads,’
he exclaimed, thefe are the foes
‘who would convey us in bonds to -
“the foot of an Englith king, but

‘by your courage and the help of
“God, they fhall fail. Be ftout men
¢and true, for the honour of Scot-
‘land and your own fakes” A
fhout followed, and wine was ferved
all round. Upon the fhips nearing
each other, the broadfides of the
Englith burft like an iron ftorm
upon the Scottith decks, but hap-
pily fwept over them harmlefsly,
from the too great elevation at which
Bull’s cannon were difcharged. The
fuperior fkill of *Sir Andrew foon
enabled him to get on the weather-
gauge of the enemy’s fleet, and then
fhortening fail, fearlefs of the tre-
mendous odds, the brave old Laird
of Largo engaged them in a clofe
and deadly confli&®, which for
twelve hours was maintained with-
out intermiffion, without one party
gaining the leaft advantage over the
other. The care of the fhips was
abandoned, and as they drifted fhore-
ward, the fmoke and report of the
cannon caufed the people of Eafter
Anftruther, of the old Borough of
Crail and Caftle of Randerftoun, to
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affemble in crowdson the neighbour-
ing hills and headlands, exprefling,
by fhouts and geftures, their hopes
and fears, But the fun verged
weftwards, and fank behind Largo
Law. The day went paft, and ftill
St. Andrew’s filver faltire and St.
George’s red crofs waved over the
battle fmoke and corpfe-ftrewn decks
of the adverfe veflels, the vitory un-
decided. The ftarry Auguft night
came on; the din of the cannon
died over the waters of the Bay, and
the hoftile fhips lay off a little,
parted by the darknefs. But by
dawn next morning, the blare of
the cannon and the Admiral’s
¢ filver quhiffel” founded the call to
arms. Refitted and prepared, the
indomitable Wood ftood once more
before the Englith, and running right
on board, threw out his grapnels and
hooked their fhips to his own, ¢that
<all,’ he faid, might fink together,
‘but none might flee” In the
deathly carnage all was forgotten
fave honour and glory. Infpired by
thefe, and negleéting the courfe of
the winds, waves, and tide, the con-
fli¢t continued till evening, when the
currents drifted the locked fleet into
the eftuary of the Tay, where the
Englith fhips, being of great burden,
grounded on the fandbanks there.

¢ Then Sir Stephen Bull, finding
all over, creft-fallen and conquered,

furrendered to the vi€torious Wood,
who carried his prizes into the har-
bour of Dundee, and a few days
after introduced Sir Stephen to the
King, who, with the regal fpirit
which ever diftinguifhed the Stuarts,
complimented both the viftor and
the vanquithed, difmiffing the latter
unranfomed, and becaufe they had
fought for glory and not for gain,
fent back the fhips as prefents to
Henry the king, with a meflage,
¢ That Scotland could boaft of war-
¢like men by fea as well as land,
¢and that he trufted England’s pira-
¢tical mariners would trouble the
¢ Scottifh feas no more, elfe a dif-
¢ ferent fate awaited them.’

“¢ The fruits of this naval vi¢tory
were of great and important con-
fequences to the young monarch.
The northern clans, who had re-
mained turbulent to revenge the fall
of the late King, difperfed to their
native hills, whilft the Englith dif-
played no more their banners on
the coafts of Scotland, and meafures
were inftituted which ended in a
folid peace, and led afterwards to
that marriage ultimately fo moment-
ous in its effefts on Britain. Sir
Andrew’s fame was {till more fpread
over all the maritime towns of Nor-
thern Europe. The old minftrel,
who fings of it in his ballad, fays,
exultingly,—




¢ The Scotfmen fought like lyons bold,
¢ And mony Englith flew ;

¢ The flaughter that they made that day
¢ The Englith folk fall rue.

¢ The battle fiercely it was fought
¢ Near to the Craig of Bafle ;

¢ When next we fight the Englifh loons,
¢ May ne'er worfe come to pafs.’

“A fhort time later, in 1503,
Sir Andrew was employed with a
fleet againft the infurgent chieftains in
the Ifles, in which expedition he was,
as ufual, eminently fuccefsful. Laying
fiege to the ftrong infular fortrefs of
Kernburg, after an obftinate refift-
ance by the Macians of Glencoe and
the warriors of Torquil Macleod, he
fucceeded in reducing it, and making
prifoner Sir Donald Dhu. Sailing
up the Sound of the Jura, the Ad-
miral fent Sir Donald to the ancient
Cattle of Innes Connel, in Lochawe,
from which, however, Sir Donald
efcaped three years fubfequently.
In the accounts of the High Trea-
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furer, there are feveral entries con-
cerning Wood’s expedition to the
Ifles; and various paflages in the
Trreafury-books prove that JamesIV.
probably atted by the advice and
inftructions of Sir Andrew, when he
increafed the. naval ftrength of the
kingdom, and ftudied the principles
of navigation and gunnery.
“Meanwhile the Scottith navy
continued to flourifh,® and the King
was foon able to fend a noble fquad-
ron to the affiftance of his ally, John
king of Denmark. It then became
his defire to poffefs the largeft and
moft magnificent fhip in the world.
Lewis XII. of France fent him fhip-
builders, and two large veflels as
models, and in the year 1512 Jaques
Tarette built the Great Michael in
the Royal Docks at Newhaven,
then named ¢Our Lady’s Port of
Grace.” At Tullybardine her di-
menfions were long to be feen,
¢ planted in hawthorn by this wright,

# ¢ In afpe@ the veffels of thofe days were very different from the prefent. They had

gigantic poops and forecaftles towering up from the water, through the gaudy portholes
of which the brafs-mouthed culverins, fakers, and falconets fhone forth, tier above tier.
The balls were ufually of ftone. There is extant an order of Henry V. to the Clerk of
his ordnance, for making 7000 ftone fhot for cannon, from the quarries of Maidftone in
Kent. The compafs was in common ufe in the time of Sir Andrew Wood, but fextants
and quadrants were unknown. In lieu of them obfervations were made by means of the
baleftrae of the Venetians, the aftrolabe of the Portuguefe, and the crofs-ftaff, an aftro-
nomical inftrument by which the latitude could be difcovered within eight or ten miles.
Telefcopes alfo they had none, the fabr keeker being the later and ufeful invention of the
Dutch in 1609.” (Ibid.) )



‘who helped to mak her’ Sir
Andrew Wood was appointed cap-
tain, and Robert Barton lieutenant
of this great fhip, which cumbered
Scotland to get her to fea. Char-
nock, quoting Pitfcottie, fays, ¢ that
¢ this veflel was of fo great ftature,
¢ and took fo much timber, that, ex-
¢ cept Falkland, fhe wafted all the
¢ oak-woods in Fyfe, with all the
¢ timber that came out of Norway.
¢ She was 240 feet long, by 36 feet
¢infide, and 10 feet thick in the
‘walls, From the time fhe was
<afloat, her mafts and fails com-
¢ plete, with anchors effeiring there-
¢ to, fthe was counted to be to the
‘king 30,000l. expenfe.” Her
fame fpread over Europe, and emu-
lous of the Scottith king, Henry
VIIL. and Francis I. endeavoured
to outvie each other in building two
enormous arks ; but they were fo
unwieldy that they proved no better
than iflands in the water, quite ufe-
lefs and immoveable. There being
peace with England, Sir Andrew
was prevented from trying his
prowefs with the fplendid equip-
ment of the great Michael; and
now, being old in years, he was fuc-
ceeded in the command of her by
Henry Lord Sinclair of Raven{craig,
who foon after, in 1513, fell upon
the fatal field of Flodden, where alfo
fell many of the flower of the land,
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and the King himfelf, the braveft of
all that ever drew fword. His in-
fant fon, James V., was proclaimed
under the Regency of his mother,
Margaret of England ; but her mar-
riage with Douglas Earl of Angus
(grandfon to Bell the Cat) gave of-
fence to the nobles, and they deter-
mined to invite John Duke of Albany
(nephew to James IIL.) to become
Regent.  Sir Andrew Wood was
defpatched on an embaflage to France
for this purpofe, and it is probable
that Albany returned with him in the
flotilla under his command, which
anchored at Dumbarton on May 18,
1515.

«“A few years later, Sir Andrew
was prefent at the battle of Linlith-
gow Bridge, where he had been
fent fpecially to proteét the Earl of
Lennox from his feudal enemies,
but he arrived only in time to be-
hold the unhappy Earl expiring be-
neath the fword of Hamilton. From
this period little more is heard of
Sir Andrew Wood, who, finding
age and infirmities increafing upon
him, retired to his Barony of Largo,
where, like old Hawfer Trunnion,
he indulged on the fhore his early
predileétion for the fea. There is
ftill pointed out the track of a canal
formed by him from his Caftle to
the venerable Kirk of Upper Largo,
on which he was failed or rowed in
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a barge to mafs every Sunday by
his old crew, who were all located
round him. From the deftruétion
of the Chancery Records of this
time in the Englith war of 1547, it
is impoffible to ftate the exaét date
of the Admiral’s death, but it was
probably about the year 1540, when
he muft have been in extreme old
age. He was buried in the family
aifle of LargoKirk, an ancient Gothic
edifice, where the tomb of his race
may yet be feen. He left feveral
children. Andrew, his heir, fecond
Laird of Largo, was high in favour
with James V., and ftood by the
King’s bedfide when he expired at
Falkland, in 1548. The fecond fon
of the Admiral, John Wood of Til-
lydoun, was educated for the Church,
but became a fenator of the College
of Juftice, Dec. g, 1562. Alexan-
der,® a third fon, was progenitor of
the Woods of Grange in Fifefhire,
and a fon of his obtained a charter
of legitimation in 1§75.

¢« Sir Andrew, the fecond Laird,
married a lady named Alifon Hume.
The third Laird married Egidia
Gourlay, and became one of the
Barons in the Parliament of 1560 ;
and feven years afterwards he figned

the famous Deed of Adherence to
James VI. He was alfo Comptroller
of Scotland in 1585. Various MS.
papers of his exift in the Great Seal.
His daughter Jean* was married to
James Drummond, firft Lord Mad-
derty, who, according to Douglas,
died in 1623. Thethird Sir Andrew
died about 1592, being fucceeded by
his fon Andrew, fourth Laird,* who
married Janet Balfour.®* Their fon
James received a charter of the
lands of Lambelethame and Cairn-
gour in Fyfefhire. The laft notice
of the family * is a charter under the
Great Seal, ¢ confirmatione Joanni
Wod filio et filiabus filiz, Ifabelle
et Chriftinz, filio et filiabus Andra
Wod de Largo, de annuis reddetibus
de Baronia de Largo— Julii 1621.
John Wood, in 1649, founded an
Hofpital in his native town for
thirteen old men of the name of
Wood, each of them to have two
apartments, and 17/ per annum.
His bequeft was 68,4184 Scots.
The edifice coft gooo merks. He
alfo built the School-houfe of Re-
meldrie; but, notwithftanding thefe
legacies, he died under great pecuni-
ary embarrafflments in London, in
1661. His body was brought by fea

~ # All this information appears to have been founded upon miftakes, as will be ex-
plained hereafter, in pages 20 and 21, nor does the laft feem verified.

D
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to Elie, and interred, July 22d, in
LargoKirk, where yet a mural monu-
ment remains to his memory ; and
with him ceafed tbe direc? line of
the old race of Largo. The eftate
pafled into other hands, and was pur-
chafed by Sir Alexander Durham,
Lord Lyon King at Arms.

“There is ftill ftanding a cir-
cular tower of the caftellated dwell-
ing erefted by the brave old Ad-
miral. A tablet, bearing a me-

morial infcription, with an. extra&t
from his charter, was inferted in
the mouldering wall by the late
General Durham ; and on the fum-
mit of the ruin is one of the 24-
pounders recovered from the wreck
of the Royal George, which points
towards the fandy fhore and beauti-
ful Bay of Largo, forming a charac-
teriftic monument to the ftout old
Captain of the Yellow Caravel.”

Copied (being in many parts abridged) from Tait’s Edinburgh
Magazine, for April and May, 1852, or for April and Fune,
1852, for I am unable to flate more precifely the months in
which this Memoir of Sir Andrew Wood appeared, baving failed
20 obtain the numbers in full, the work being faid to be out of

print, whilft my own fmall portion of it is but a_fragment.

In reference to the concluding words regarding the
extin&ion of the direit line of the old race of Largo, it may
I think be aflumed, that fince miftakes are made in fome
of the records given of the Family by the author of this
Memoir, that in this inftancz alfo there is miftake;
and that where he writes of the failure of ¢ the dires?
line,” he fhould rather have written of ¢ the elder line.”
For not only, as is well known, did there never arife a
new race of Wood of Largo, but by fuch affertion, all the
other heirs of the old Sir Andrew are ignored, and the line
of that heir called ¢ of a younger fon,” which carried on the




9

family to the Rev. Alexander the Epifcopalian clergyman,
overlooked altogether. But equally or even more than all
this, the long exiftent family tradition and family faith of
their defcent, with the eftablifhed and uncontroverted po-
fition of John Wood, Governor of the Ifle of Man, as
lineal reprefentative of Wood of Largo invefted with the
appropriate Arms of the old Admiral, feemed to myfelf
evidences fo fure that the faith and the claim were right-
ful ones, that I could not but conclude that the author
of the Memoir in T4it’s Magazine had made a miftake
in defcribing the direc? line of the old race as extiné.
To make fuch affurance ftill more fure and certain, re-
queft was made to the Lyon Office, Edinburgh, to afcer-
tain if poffible the conditions and tenure upon which
the Governor of the Ifle of Man had obtained the grant
of the Arms attached to the title, and to acquire alfo
more full information of the dire& lineage from father to
fon, from the firft Laird, the gallant Sir Andrew, to my
Brother, the prefent reprefentative. The reply, when re-
fearch had been made in his profeflional capacity, by W.
Anderfon, Efq., Marchmont Herald and Lyon Clerk
Depute, was quite fatisfattory as far as Public Records
afforded additional particulars, and extraés foon after fent
from various Regifters of the family under the Great Seal
of Scotland, as fully fo, to the time to which they extend,
when there ftill remains unfolved the queftion, which
of the Lambelethame Woods of Largo was the father
of the Rev. Alexander the Epifcopalian clergyman.



20

But before entering at greater length upon this fubje&,
it may be better to return to the mention of the other
miftakes made by the author of the Memoir in Taif’s
Magazine, which are,

Firft, with regard to the marriage of one of the family
of Wood of Largo into the family of James Drummond,
firft Baron Madderty. In Tair's Memoir it is faid, {peak-
ing of the third Laird, that ¢ his daughter Jean was
“married to James Drummond, firft Lord Madderty,
“ who, according to Douglas, died in 1623,” as may be
feen by reference to page 17. All the Peerages on the
contrary give the name of another lady as wife to the
firft Baron Madderty, and in other Family Records it is
ftated, not that any lady of the name of Wood was married
to that nobleman,- but that his fecond daughter, the
Honourable Jean Drummond, became the wife of Andrew
Wood, the fourth Laird of Largo. That there was a
fon of this marriage is alfo fhown, John Wood, the
fifth Laird, the munificent founder of the Hofpital in
Largo and School in Remeldrie, who died without heirs
and in poverty, in the year 1661 ; whether there were
other fons, or an only fon, is not apparent.

Secondly, the writer of the Memoir in the Magazine
fays that ¢ Andrew, fourth Laird of Largo, married
¢ Janet Balfour, and that their fon James received a grant
¢ of charter of the lands of Lambelethame and Cairngour,
“in Fyfefhire;” whereas, as above explained, the fourth
Laird married Jean Drummond, not Janet Balfour, the

v |
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latter being wife to ¢ James of Lambelethame, Cairngour,
¢« Newmylne, and others, in Fyfefhire,” which James was
fon of either the fecond or of the third Laird.* To him,
according to the Regifter of the Great Seal, was made
a grant of thefe lands, that is, to James, the hufband of
Janet Balfour, who, from all that may be obferved, was
very diftin&ly the lineal and rightful heir of the family,
in John Wood fifth Laird the founder of the Hofpital
dying unmarried, having failed the elder line, not the dire?
line, this being carried onward in the heirs of this fame
<« James Wood of Lambelethame, Cairngour, Newmylne,
““and others, in Fyfefhire,” who appears, from one of
the Cartularies, to have been youngeft fon of the fecond
Laird, and grandfon to the old Admiral; yet it is not
perfectly plain; ftill thus the uncertainty refulting from
Tair’s account of thefe circumftances, may be confidered,
I think, as in great part, if not entirely removed;
whilft it is not unlikely that, if the refearch were more
neceflary, lefs difficult, and lefs fatiguing, that this ¢ James
¢ of Lambelethame, Cairngour, Newmylne, and others in
¢ Fyfefhire,” or more poffibly one of his fons, would
be found to be the fame as the anceftor mentioned in
an incomplete genealogy amongft the papers in my pof-

* This fames of Lambelethame could fcarcely have been fon to the fourth Laird (as
is thus ftated in Taitr’s Memoir, vide page 17), being an older man, and having died in or
about the year 1596, when the fourth Laird it would feem was young, and which may be
further obferved by comparing the ftatements and dates in Tait’s Magasine with thofe
relating to him in the Pedigree of the Family, between pages 26 and 31.
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feflion, as ¢ a younger fon of Wood of Largo,” grand-
father of the Rev. Alexander.*

But it is not only in this Memoir in Taif’s Magazine
that miftakes are made. In Debrett’s Baronetage for
1824, fifth edition, vol ii. p. 1092, there is a mis-ftate-
ment, of names only perhaps, but ftill mis-ftated. It is
faid there that Sir Mark, on

the deceafe without iflue of John | and chief of the name; and in
Wood, late Governor and Captain | Auguft 1809 Sir Mark obtained
General of the Ifle of Man, be- | a grant from the Lyon Office,
came heir male and reprefentative | Edinburgh, of the arms granted to
of the ancient Woods of Largo, | Sir William.

There feems to be no recognition anywhere of any Sir
William Wood of Largo. There was a Sir John Wood
of Bonnytoun, extin&t in 1666, between which Woods
of Bonnytoun, and alfo Woods of Colpny, Aberdeen,
and the Woods of Largo, there was fome acknowledged
affinity, as branches doubtlefs of the ftill older Woods
of Bonnington, and the fhield of his coat armorial
bore an oak-tree, as all families of the name of Wood in
Scotland are faid always to bear; but his creft was not
the Ship under fail, the diftin&tive badge of the old
Admiral ; nor had he Supporters of any kind. Is it
not the moft likely that in this mention of Wood of
Largo in Debrett, Sir William is a mifprint for Sir
Andrew ?

Again, in the Gentleman's Magazine for the month of

* In this genealogy, marriages are given both of the father and gran;iﬁther, but no
dates, and no names of either hufband or wife until the Rev. Alexander.
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October 1837, there is the following paflfage in the obitu-
ary memoir there of the younger Sir Mark, our coufin,
who died in Auguft in that year, aged forty-two : ¢ This
““is a Scotch family, a branch of the Woods of Largo;
¢ and upon the demife of Mark Wood, late Governor and
¢ Captain-General of the Ifle of Man, Sir Mark, the firft
‘¢ baronet, became the Reprefentative of that ancient houfe.”
This, without any queftion, is a miftake, or a mifprint; John,
not Mark, having undoubtedly been the Chriftian name
of that gentleman, the Governor of Man —regarding whofe
claim to the lineal reprefentation and appropriate armorial
bearings of Wood of Largo, may now be given the fub-
ftance of the reply from the Marchmont Herald,
‘ Which is to the effet,

and juftifies my own conclufions, that when (as may be
alfo feen by reference to the Grant of Arms in the poffef-
fion of George Wood, Efq., the prefent Reprefentative)
that ¢ when on the 25th of March, 1775, his Excellency
¢« John Wood obtained a matriculation of thofe appro-
¢ priate arms, that his right of claim to them as Heir
““ male and Reprefentative of Wood of Largo and Chief
“ of the name, muft have been made known and proved to
¢ the fatisfaction of the Lyon Court Officials of the time,
¢ or he could not have been fo recognized in the Public
¢¢ Records, nor fo acknowledged by any Heraldic Law or
¢ ufage whatfoever. That fuch a valid right would de-
« {cend with the fame completene/s to his own lawful Heirs,
¢ is declared to be equally indifputable, and the Marchmont
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¢« Herald concludes the fubje® by fome reference to the
¢ Law of Challenge in Scotland, which but tends more
¢« entirely to confirm the claim.”

Amongft other perfons of influence in thefe matters,
and writers who have made the tracing of genealogies and
family connexions their ftudy, it is obferved that ¢ names
¢ are of great fervice, as being frequently, if not generally,
«¢ indicative of lines of kinfmanfhip,aswell asof new families
““ brought in by marriage.” Thus, amongft the Woods of
Largo, are to be noted the names of Alexander, James,
and William, befides thofe of Andrew, John, Mark, and
George; and by this means there may be obtained a
better guide towards elucidating the relationfhip between
the Rev. Alexander the Epifcopalian clergyman and grand-
father to the Governor of Man, and the later Woods of
Lambelethame, the indecifivenefs attending this queftion
appearing to have been chiefly caufed by the rather fingular
coincidence, that about the period of his birth, probably
in or near 1640, both the families of Wood of Largo had
become impoverifhed. The troubled times of civil warfare
had in all likelihood much to do with this change in their
deftinies which now overtook them, but the precife nature
of the misfortune is not as clear as its reality. Inan expla-
natory note appended to the Pedigree it is ftated that

¢ From fome caufe notafcertained, | ‘¢ middle of the feventeenth century,
«¢ that the landed pofleffions of both | ¢¢ and hence the difficulties in tracing
“ the families of Wood of Largo | ¢“defcent downwards from the gen-

¢ and of Lambelethame, pafled into | ¢“erations therein given. To fhow
¢ other hands prior to or about the | ¢ that they had been conveyed or
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« difpoflefled of their properties (the
explanation of which term is given
in the Addenda, page 91), “ the two
¢ following fervices are inferted —
« namely,

« Firft date. April 27, 1646.—
John Scrymgeour is ferved heir of
Hugh Scrymgeour of Balrymouth
Eafter, his father, in Balrymouth,

lands of Cairngour and Balrymouth
Wefter, &c.”

« Second date. March 9,1671.—
Alexander Durham, of Largo, is
ferved heir of Mr. Francis Durham,
his brother-german, in the lands of
Largo and others, comprifing the old
heritage of the Woods of Largo,”
the fame defcribed in 74i#’s Memoir

part of the lands of Lambelethame
and Mylne, and two parts of the

to have been purchafed by their uncle
the Lord Lyon, in 1663.

Thus it is evident that at this period, the Woods
of Largo had fallen from their high eftate into adverfe
fortunes. Of the decay and extin&ion of the elder line of
the family, defcended from the eldeft fon’s eldeft fon, it is
expreflly faid in 74i#’s Memoir (and appears to be correct),
that John, the fifth Laird, died ¢ in great pecuniary embar-
‘¢ raflments in London in the year 1661.” His extenfive
charities are alfo fet forth therein, and from record of
him elfewhere, is to be gathered this further teftimony
of his kindnefs and confideration for others, ¢ that he
¢ obtained a charter under James VI. for himfelf and his
¢ three fifters, Lilias, Ifabella, and Chriftian or Chriftina,
““of an annual rent out of the Barony of Largo;” yet
he died in poverty ; but not difhonoured, nor forfaken.
Reverential if not grateful hearts feem to have been near
in the clofing hours of his life, and with a pious care to
have borne home the dead to his native fhore. < His
“ body was brought by fea to Scotland, and interred in
‘¢ his anceftral kirk of Largo, where ftill,” fays the author
E
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of the Memoir in Tai¢, ¢ a Mural Monument remains to
 his memory. His eftate paffed into other hands, and
““ was purchafed by Sir Alexander Durham.”

The younger branch of the family, defcending from
James of Lambelethame and Cairngour, whofe eldeft fon
Alexander was the fixth Lineal Reprefentative, his mother,

o wife to this James, being Janet Balfour, fuppofed to have
been of the Balfours of Munghanny or of Burleigh, for both
thefe families had fome connexion with the ancient Ad-
miral, the former from their office as Wardens of the Forth,
and the latter from family links, (vide pages 68 and 75),
this line of James of Lambelethame having become im-
poverifhed alfo, as related in the fervice of April 1646, were
apparently from this caufe, prevented from claiming the
landed inheritance of their race in Largo. Or the fale of it
may have been neceflary to defray all the expenditure of
the almf{givings of John Wood the fifth Laird. But what-
ever were the caufes, there is full proof that not diftant
from the middle of the feventeenth century, the Woods
of Largo were rich and powerful no longer ; and about the
fame time come to an end, the entries and notices, dates of
charter in the Regifter of the Great Seal of Scotland, com-
mencing in 1480, or earlier, and other memoranda of the
family, till then enrolled, and ftill preferved in the archives
of that kingdom.

‘7‘?2 ,@f:zw%*
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PEDIGREE OF THE BARONIAL

I. SIR ANDREW WOOD, or WODE of Largo, Co. Fyfe, Admiral to the Kings
James III. and IV.; had feveral charters under the Great Seal of Scotland to
himfelf and Elizabeth Lundie, his fpoufe, of the lands of Largo and others,

ereted into a Free Barony in 1513. His eldeft fon

II. ANDREW WOOD of Largo (2nd Laird and Knight) married Alifon Hume, and had
a charter under the Great Seal of Scotland in the time of James V. of half the King's
lands of Shiremuir, dated 1528, and another of the Ifland of Inch Keith, of Bal-
breckie, of Netherfawfields, and others, dated 1538 —and left three fons:—

1 2

III. ANDREW (3rd Laird) Alexander of Grange
married Egidia Gourlay ; was had a fon, Robert,
ComptrollertoKing JamesVI. “  whoobtainedachar-
in 1585 ; obtained a charter ter of Legitimation
of the lands of Balbreckie in 1572, but ap-
and Inch Keith in feu farm pears to have left
in 1597. His fon no diret heirs.

IV. ANDREW fucceeded. All his feveral lands were
united of new into the Barony of Largo in 1596. He
married the Hon. Jean Drummond, fecond daughter of
James, firft Lord Madderty (fee Crawford’s Peerage,
293), by whom he had one fon and three daughters—
as below—His fon

V. JOHN WOOD obtained a charter of confirma-
tion under the Great Seal in favour of himfelf and his
three fifters, Lily or Lilias, Ifabella, and Chriftian or
Chriftina, of an annual rent out of the Barony of
Largo. (Died in 1661, apparently unmarried, as feems
to be generally elfewhere confirmed).

! 3
/ James of Ballingall ob-

tained a charter under
the Great Seal, dated in
1585, of part of the
lands of Balrymouth, alfo
of the lands of Ballingall
and Pitgeddie, in which
he is defcribed as the
¢ third born fon,” and
alfo another charter dated
in September, 1591, of
the lands of Lambele-
thame and Cairngour in
Fyfefhire, in which he is
defignated as “ filio quond
<« Andree Wode Senioris
“ de Largo,” “ fon of the
« late Andrew Wood the
< Elder, of Largo.” This
laft charter of the lands
of Lambelethame and




FAMILY OF WOOD OF LARGO.

Cairngour being at the fame time confirmed to himfelf and to his fpoufe, Janet
Balfour. He had, moreover, another charter of the Mylne, called the Newmylne,
near St. Andrews. He died in or about the year 1596, and appears to have left
two fons, namely,—

1 2

VI. ALEXANDER ferved heir of James William defcribed as “ filio legitimo
Wood, his father, in the lands of ¢ quond Facobo Wode de Lambele-
Lambelethame and Newmylne in that € thame,” that is, “of the late
year, 1596 ; andalfoas heir to his father ¢ James Wood of Lambelethame,”
conform to fervice, in certain lands in obtains a charter under the Great
and near Pittenweyme, in 1600. In Seal of a tenement and lands at
his lifetime he appears to have acquired Pittenweyme, 1599.

the lands of Grange (as heir probably
to hisuncle). His fon

VII. JAMES WODE, or WOOD, of Lambelethame, is ferved heir of his father Alex-
ander, in the lands of Grange and teinds of Kilconquhar, and alfo of his
grandfather James Wood of Lambelethame, in the lands of Gallerig and Clune
in the Barony of Pittencrieffe, fervice of date, June 1630.— He had a fon,

VIII. JAMES WOOD, heir apparent, or younger of Lambelethame, gets a charter under
the Great Seal of the lands of Grange in 1649.

A copy abridged, but entire in all the material parts.
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To trace downwards the defcent from thefe laft mem-
bers of the family herein named, difficulty arifes, not only
from the eftates having pafled into other hands, but from
the lofs likewife of documents prefumed to have be-
longed to the Rev. Alexander Wood, not, however, of
real moment; and no complete genealogy exifting, the
only opinions that can now be formed are, that he may
have been fon to the fixth Laird, the fourth in defcent
from the old Admiral according to this Pedigree, or to
his brother William, or to fome other fon of the family
not far removed from thefe, the fons of James of Lambele-
thame and Cairngour. His own name of Alexander, and
the name of William of his third-born fon, ftrengthens the
conje&ure, and tends to eftablifh the probability of very
near relationfhip between them, thus bringing into clofe
proximity the known and certain line of the family of
Wood of Largo preceding, and the line of the fame family
in_fucceffion to himfelf, the Rev. Alexander. And there can
be no doubt that it muft have been by lawful evidence
of fuch conne&ing bonds, that his grandfon, the Governor
of Man, was able to declare himfelf entitled to be their
Lineal and Rightful Reprefentative.

From the Rev. Alexander (vide Notes concluding, 1.
part firft), by his marriage with the granddaughter of the
Rev. Robert Ker, of Ker of Cefsford, defcended four fons,
viz.,

1. RoBerT, Under Secretary of State for Scotland,

¢ when,” as ftated in one of the old papers,  his
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¢¢ relative, the Duke of Roxburghe, was Secretary”
between 1705and 1726. He is faid to have died
young, and without heirs.

2. GEoRGE, alfo deceafed without heirs.

3. WiLLiaM, married, and had John, Governor of the
Ifle of Man ; Andrew, Re¢tor of Darlington, York,
and Chaplain to the King, died unmarried; and
William, Captain in the Army, married Lady
Catherine Cochrane, only daughter of Thomas,
fixth Earl of Dundonald, and left one child, Anne,
Mrs. Dottin.

4. Mark, of Perth, married Jean Mercer, of the
family of Mercer of Aldie, and had Alexander,
who married Jean Ramfay, and became heir to
the Governor of Man; Thomas died young, and
Robert married Anne Smythe.

And then, continuing the line, towards the clofe of
the century after his deceafe, his grandfon, John Wood,
Governor of the Ifle of Man, takes his place (as his
anceftors, the Woods of Lambelethame, muft equally
have done) as Heir Male and Reprefentative of the Family,
and Chief of the name; upon whom dying without male
iffue in the year 1777, another grandfon of the Epifcopa-
lian clergyman and coufin-german to the Governor of Man,
Alexander of Burncroft,* became the Heir; (our own

* It is thus, as ‘¢ Alexander Wood, Efq. of Burncroft Co. Perth, a Lineal defcendant
 of Wood of Largo,” that his fon Sir Mark defignates his Father in an old Paper or part
of a letter written by him, which is amongft the papers in my poffeffion.
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grandfather), the fucceffion pafling on upon his death in
the year following, 1778, to his eldeft fon Mark, after-
wards Sir Mark Wood, Bart., of Gatton, Surrey; upon
the failure of whofe heirs male, it has again paffed from
coufin-german to coufin-german, from the younger Sir
Mark, to George, the only fon and heir of Major-General
Sir George Wood, K.C.B., of Otterfhaw, and of Gatton,
who is now therefore the Lineal Heir and Reprefentative,
as Fobn, Governor of the Ifle of Man, was, of the ancient
Family of Wood of Largo, defcended from the brave and
loyal Admiral of Scotland, Sir Andrew, who himfelf,
according to Abercrombie, was of the ftill more ancient
family of Wood of Bonnington in Angus; by which the
defignation of Wood of Largo becomes even more deci-
dedly bound up and identified with his own defcendants,
leaving no room to queftion that in the perfon of
George Wood, Efy., (the fon of Major-General Sir George),
late of Otterfhaw and Potter’s Park, and now of Childown,
Surrey, and of Teftcombe, Hants, is his living Repre-
fentative, and in the other members of the family, his
living pofterity.

If further evidence were wanting to make more per-
ceptible the miftake in the Memoir in T4i#’s Magazine when
the Author afferts that the dire& line of the old race of
Largo ceafed in John Wood the fifth Laird, it feems to be
afforded in the very name and the very coincidence. If upon
his death in 1661, and the fale foon after in 1663 of all his
eftates in Largo to Sir Alexander Durham (as vide pages

F
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17, 18, and 25), if then the dire& line had ceafed in him,
there muft have been for thofe who carried on this diftin&tive
family appellation a prior and a ftronger claim to it than
merely the eftates would give. There muft have been a
full affurance of dire& lineage from the old Admiral, Sir
Andrew, or the title of his Barony could never have been
affumed, nor.permitted in any manner to have been afflumed
by aliens ; whilft, moreover, the Grant from the Herald’s
College of the appropriate Arms of Wood of Largo, cref
and motto, fupporters and fhield, makes it imperative that
thofe appropriate arms fhould belong only to bim who
can trace his inheritance by lineal right and lawful
wedlock.

To this family alone, therefore, belong thefe Armorial
Bearings, and to George Wood, Efg., as Chief of this
name of Wood of Largo, are friftly limited the fupporters
of them, attached to his Title, and with the fhip under
fail, diftin&ive of his Claim, and which moreover are
reftri¢ed ““to be inherited only, and borne only, and
“ ufed only by him and his Rightful Heirs in all time

‘“ coming.”

To the memory of John Wood, Governor of Man, to
whom the grant of thefe appropriate arms of Wood of
Largo was given in the year 1775, there is an infcription
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on a Mural Tablet in St. Mary’s Government Chapel in
Caftletown, Ifle of Man, as follows—

Tutus in Undis.
Near this place lieth
His Excellency Joun Woop, Efq.,
Governor-in-Chief, Captain-General,
and Chancellor of this Ifle
16 years.

Died joth April, 1777, aged 65.
He was the firft Regal Governor on
this Eftablifament, and took
pofleflion of the Royalties of Man
and the Ifles for
His Majefty George III.
on the 11th of July, 1765.
He was univerfally refpeted, loved,
and efteemed.

His father, William Wood, the third fon of the Rev.
Alexander the Epifcopalian clergyman, and brother
to Mark of Perth, appears to have been a perfon of fome
confideration in Glafgow, though in what pofition or pro-
fefion is not ftated. Mention is made of him and his
family about the year 1745, in the lately publithed Me-
moir and Autobiography of Carlyle of Inverefk ; and it is
that kind of mention which clearly difclofes that he muft
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have been one of the principal gentlemen of the place.
His daughters, too, are fpoken of, and fome particu-
lars added of the death of his fon, the Rev. Andrew,
Rector of Darlington, and afterwards .of Gatefhead by
Newcattle. (vide Note 1, part fecond).

Of Mark Wood, a merchant of Perth, there is again
evidence that his family was confidered as one of the
higher families of that city. The date given of his
marriage with Jean Mercer (vide Note 2) is in or about
the year 1707. Their firft three children were daughters,
Lilias, Jane, and Anna, but whether dying married or
unmarried is not known. This name of Lilias is noticed
by the Marchmont Herald as ¢ prefenting confirmation
“of the relation between the family of Mark Wood
<« of Perth, and that of the fourth Laird and his wife
¢ the Hon. Jean Drummond.” Alexander, their eldeft fon,
was born in 1712, being defignated in one of the old
Papers by his fon Sir Mark, as ¢ Alexander Wood, Efq.
¢ of Burncroft, Co. Perth, a Lineal defcendant of Wood
« of Largo,” and further fhown in the fame, to have held
the office of Colle&or of Cuftoms for the county,* and to
have inherited fome property from his mother. Of the
family of his wife, the daughter of R. Ramfay, Efq.,

* This was an office often held by gentlemen of good birth in Scotland in the laft
century. About the year 1760, a fon of Sir David Murray, Bart., of Stanhope, was
Colle@or of Cuftoms at Borrowftounes. Near the fame period one of the Keiths of
Powburn, of the family of the Earl Marifchal (Kintore), was Colle€tor at Aberdeen. In
1791 Campbell of Dunftaffnage Caftle held the fame office for the county of Argyle; and
many other inftances might be enumerated.
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nothing can with certainty be afcertained, beyond that it
is apparently extin&, having been faid to have belonged to
one of the ancient branches, probably of BamfF or Fifefhire.
Their eldeft daughter Chriftian, died young and unmarried.
Their eldeft fon Mark, afterwards Sir Mark Wood, Bart.,
of Gatton, was born March 16, 1750. This name of
Mark does not appear in the family until after the con-
nexion with the Kers of Cefsford ; fo likewife the name of
George is only to be obferved after that time.- The name
of Alexander has been fince the fixth lineal Reprefentative,
the fon of James of Lambelethame and Janet Balfour, a far
more frequent one than that of Andrew. This fame name
of Alexander belongs alfo to other Woods, the Woods
of Littleton in Middlefex, but in no way are they allied
to the Woods of Largo, who ftand quite and wholly
feparate from all other families of the name.

Robert Wood, the younger brother of the above
Alexander, married Anne, daughter of W. Smythe,
Efq., of Methven, Perthfhire, one of the oldeft races of
that county, defcended from the Clan Chattan, whofe
hiftory was in its origin commingled with that of
the Lords of the Ifles. Their only daughter became
the wife of Capt. Martin Lindfay, R.N., of the family
of Dowhill, North Britain, defcended from Sir William
Lindefay of Roflie, brother to the firft Earl of Crawford,
1390; and they were her grandchildren, the children of
her youngeft fon, George Lindfay, of the Eaft India
Company’s Civil Service, who perithed fo tragically in the
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maflacre of Cawnpore in 1857, and written by one of
whom, were afterwards found thofe affe&ing lines, fo
brief, yet fo full of the anguifh and of the utter hope-
leflnefs of their moft mournful fate.

Befides Mrs. Martin Lindfay, the only deceafed X, .
daughter of the Woods of Largo who has left children /A
furviving, has been Margaret Wood, granddaughter of % Lo 1o
Robert Wood and Anne Smythe, and wife of the late ~°. y «
Edward Collins, Efq., of Frowlefworth, Leicefterfhire, s 88
formerly Captain in the 21ft Regiment of Light Dra-
goons ; one of thofe difbanded after Waterloo.

The fons of Alexander Wood, Efq., Heir to the

Governor of Man, were befides Sir Mark his eldeft fon,
and two younger who died in childhood, Admiral Sir James
Atholl, R.N. and C.B., Major-General Sir George, K.C.B.
of Otterfhaw Park, Surrey, Lieut. Andrew, R.N., and
Captain Thomas of the Madras Engineers. The fons of
Robert Wood, Efq., his younger brother, were James of
Keithock, Perthfhire, George a merchant died unmarried,
William, Robert died young, and Lieut.-Col. Thomas, C.B.,
of the Bengal Engineers. From thefe gentlemen defcend
thofe, but few in number, who bear the name and
comprehend the exifting branches of this Family, and of
whom further mention may be found in the Pedigree in
conclufion.
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Pergonal Wemembrances.

Or all this family of the Woods of Largo, my own early
memory carries me back to the immediate relatives of the
Governor of Man, in the brother-in-law and fifter-in-law of
his niece Mrs. Dottin, the only child of his brother, Captain
William Wood of Nether Gallowhill, North Britain,* which
lady and gentleman, Colonel and Mrs. Roufe Dottin, of
Bugle Hall, Hampfhire, I remember ftaying upon a vifit to
our Parents at Gatton, fome time in thofe years of our child-
hood pafled there between 1819 and 1824 ; but in which
precifely, I cannot fay. They were both I think quite old,
which in Colonel Dottin efpecially, made the impreflion
upon me which enables me to recolle® them fo well.
Mrs. Roufe Dottin was fifter to the fecond wife of the ninth
Lord Arundell of Wardour, daughters of Mr. Burnett
Jones of Ades, Suffex, all of which may be feen in the
firft volume of the firft edition of Burke’s Commoners, the
only miftake being in defcribing the property of Nether
Gallowhill, as Gallon Hill, in the County of Renfrew.

# In Debrett’s Pecrage, 14th edition for 1822, vol. ii. p. 792, is mentioned the mar-
riage of this gentleman, William Wood of Nether Gallowhill, to Lady Catherine Cochrane,
daughter of Thomas, fixth Earl of Dundonald, and the marriage alfo of their only child
Anne, to three hufbands ; Captain Dottin, (who in one of the old Papers is correitly
defcribed as Captain Dottin of the Guards) being the laft. Again in Burke’s Peerage,
21ft edition for 1859, at the title Dundonald, is given the fame marriage of the Parents,
but not that of their child. She appears to have deceafed, and Captain Dottin alfo, before
the year 1820.
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Of others nearer to ourfelves, our uncle Sir Mark
will ever be remembered by me with much affe®tion. He
was always and unfailingly a moft kind uncle to us, and
between him and our dear Father Sir George, there exifted
a ftrong brotherly regard, grown up from their youth and
become more clofely fealed by the mutual truft of earneft-
hearted men; and not unfeldom returns to me through
the long years as a vifion from a happier world, the
friendly intercourfe of thofe departed days, not only of .
our Father and Uncle, but of all the family circle then at
Gatton, living in the large Houfe and in the {fmaller houfes
around, within the domain of Lower Gatton. In the
fummer time my fifter and myfelf were often allowed to
breakfaft with Sir Mark at the Tower, his pretty refidence
in the Park, completely trelliffed over with fweet China
Rofes ; and never can his ever-ready and loving welcomes
to ¢ little Fanny and little Georgina,” become for me
kindnefles forgotten. Sometimes he would take us with
him in his Pony carriage, the Pony, that fame Welfh
Maria, which furvived through all our earlier life at Otter-
fhaw, to carry about afterwards, I think, fome of our own
children. When laft we faw Sir Mark at his houfe in Pall
Mall but a little while before his death in February 1829,
he greeted us with his ufual affection ; but it was in tears,
He had been very ill. I remember hearing that a Bible
our Coufin Beflie had given him, was, in the latter weeks
of his life, his conftant companion.

Amongft other memories of Gatton which are intereft-
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ing, I have one, not very diftin& perhaps, yet fufficiently
to thow that it was reality and not imagination, of the
Ele&ion of fome Member of Parliament in the {mall
Temple-like building called the Town Hall which ftood
amidft the large elm-trees behind the houfe. It was even
then, to my fancy, old-looking and mofs-grown, for we
often wandered to it in our play-hours, making pretended
gipfy fires there, the Peacocks and Peafowl fometimes
fauntering round us. I remember an affemblage of peo-
ple cheering, and hats thrown up and waved, whilft
Sir Mark and other gentlemen waited within the rails be-
fide a ftranger, whofe name I have fome idea was Ruflell.
At Gatton alfo near the houfe, was a grove not quite
unknown to fame, called the Lady Cowper’s Walk, where
one of the Countefles Cowper was faid to have met her
death, being ftung there by an adder. At the diftant end
a monumental urn had been ere@ted to her memory, the
verfes upon it being written, if I remember rightly, by the
poet Cowper, our beloved mother’s favourite poet; but it -
was but feldom we went there, and then almoft only in her
company, for the place poffefled for our young feelings
a great gloom, enhanced by the bridge over a chafm in
the hill-fide obfcured with overhanging branches, by which
alone it could then be entered. Another fimilar urn,
but I think without infcription, was on the oppofite
garden fide of the lawn, where in f{pring-time violets
lavifhly carpeted the ground, and where fome ineffaceable
leflons were learnt from our elder companions. Within
G
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the houfe was a pi¢ure upon the wall, a large medallion
in the dining-room engraven in wood, reprefenting the
Choice of Hercules, which always imprefled me with a cer-
tain ferioufnefs, the effe& very likely of the words of one or
other of our Parents when firft explaining to us its meaning.
There are fome things I never hear, and I never feea China
rofe or violet, but a refrain comes from that happy home
of the paft, now only typical to me and to fome few more
amongft us, of the utmoft defolation. But one amaranthine
flower grew there, the only one fome poets fay which can
grow in mortal air, and that flower was Truth. True to
their confciences were the upright hearts around us, and
not fevere their Judge ; and thus, through all this darkened
world of lofs and care and grief, even when our deareft
hopes are gone, we can for comfort turn to the rays of light
unfading, which by the Saviour’s mercy, fometimes reach us,
from the everlafting hills above.

Our Uncle, Sir James Atholl Wood, whofe career has
become more public than that of his brothers, was a kind
Uncle to us alfo, though lefs affectionate in manner than
Sir Mark. During our refidences in London, to which as
we grew older our mother took us every year for the better
advantages of education, we frequently vifited him in his
apartments in the Albany, from which fome lamenefs pre-
vented him from often moving. A large and moft perfe&
model of his beautiful fhip, the Pompée, ftood upon a table
at one end of his fitting-room. His bed-clofet, for it could
fcarcely be called much more, he had arranged to look like
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a fthip’s cabin, with his bed as a berth in the fide, and the
refemblance was, I think, made more ftriking from the
window being very fmall, and in a corner near the ceiling.
A faithful and attached old fervant lived with him fome-
where in the attics of thofe Albany Chambers, who had
been his fteward in the Latona, in command of which
veflel it was that our Uncle had fo effettually affifted in
the capture of the Ifle of Curagoa, in 1807.

In Ralfe’s Naval Biography, there is a long and inter-
efting Memoir of Sir James Atholl Wood, throughout
the whole of which, not only is he fpoken of in the higheft
terms, but great pains are taken to acquit him from all
blame in a Court Martial held in the year 1812, and to
make manifeft its great injuftice towards him, of which,
when one comes to read the circumftances, and to know,
as may be fo well known, how exceedingly confcientious
and unfelfith was our Uncle’s condu& through life, it feems
furprifing how any fuch court could ever have been called
to judge him. Of his chara&er, his talents, and his worth,
fome idea may be formed from the following extraéts from
the above Author, who, after mentioning Sir James’s pro-
grefs from the Hunter floop of war, to the Barfleur, the
Princefs Royal, and the Anfon, to which he was appointed
Firft Lieutenant by Lord Rodney after the action with the
Conte de Graffe, in which his Captain (Blair) was killed,
continues thus :

« After the capture of Marti- | mander), was direfted by Sir John
nique, Lieutenant Wood being then | to take charge of fome cartel-fhips
in the Boyne (Sir John Jervis, Com- | with prifoners on board, and con-
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vey them to St. Malo, where he
unfortunately arrived during the fan-
guinary government of Robefpierre.
That tyrant, without any refpe& to
the laws or common ufages of na-
tions, not only feized the fhips, but
threw Licutenant Wood into prifon.
He was afterwards ordered to Paris,
where he underwent an examina-
tion before the Comité de Salut
Public, and was then fent to the
Abbaye, in compliance with the
following order :

“¢ Le citoyen gendarme, auquel a
¢ été confié le nommé Wood, An-
¢ glais, venant de Port de Malo, le
«dépofera dans la maifon d’arrét,
¢ dite ’Abbaye, on il fera écroué
“en fa qualité d’Anglais, ici con-
 formément 3 l'article 4 de la loi
““du 19 Vendémaire,

“« (Signé) HerMan,

«“ CommifJaire des Adminifirations
Civiles, etc.

«“ Déte, le 27 Prairial, lan 2
de la République.”

‘¢ After the death of Robefpierre
(in 1794), whom Sir James, -then
Licutenant Wood, faw pafs to the
place of his execution, he was re-
leafed on parole, as by the order
following :

“Le Comité de Salut Public
““arréte que Athol Vood, officier
‘¢ parlementaire Anglais, et Helven
¢ fon homme de confiance, detenus

*¢ au Luxembourg, feront élargis et
‘¢ mis en liberté fur leur paroled’hon-
“ neur, ¢« (Signé)

¢ CamBageres, PELET, DuMonT,
¢ Boissy, CHAREL, ETC.

¢ Déte le 30 Nivofe, l'an 3 de /a
République une et indivifible.”

¢¢ Lieutenant Wood then returned
to England, but not till he had ufed
his utmoft exertions in behalf of his
unfortunate countrymen immured
within the Prifons of Paris, as ap-
pears from the following letter from
General O’Hara to the Secretary of
State for the War Department, the
Right Hon. H. Dundas:

¢ Date Paris, Prifon du Drenoux,

« April 6, 1795.

¢ S1r,—Give me leave to prefent
¢ to you Lieutenant Wood of the
¢« Royal Navy, whofe long confine-
““ment in a common gaol, where
““our acquaintance began, renders
“him highly deferving your pro-
¢ teCtion, as the unexampled feveri-
“ ties he experienced, arofe from his
¢ manly endeavours to ferve his fel-
¢ low-countrymen.  Lieut. Wood
¢ will, I am perfuaded, Sir, have a
¢ further claim to your good offices
““ when you are acquainted that
¢¢ feveral Englith families who had
¢¢ languifhed for many months in the
«¢ Prifons of this town, the manfions
¢¢ of defpair and accumulated cruel-
¢ ties, are indebted to his friendly




45

*¢ interference for their liberty. And
¢¢ that likewife the exchange of fe-
¢ veral officers of the Royal Navy,
¢¢ hasbeen in a great meafure brought
¢¢ about by his unremitting exertions.
I truft, Sir, you will have the
<¢ goodnefs to forgive the liberty I
‘“ take in endeavouring to be ufeful
“ to an officer whofe fufferings have
“been fo great and fortunes fo
““deeply wounded, from a fpirited
¢ difcharge of his duty.

¢ (Signed) Cnarres O’Hara.”

¢ Soon after his return to Eng-
land Lieutenant Wood was advanced
to the rank of Commander, and
appointed to the Favourite floop of
war, in which, after cruizing for
fome time in the Channel, he pro-
ceeded to the Weft Indies, where he
was required to affift in quelling the
infurre€tions which had long raged
in the Iflands of St. Vincent and
Grenada.

¢ Among the many inftances of
his zeal and aivity while on that
fervice, was the capture and deftruc-
tion in the courfe of lefs than forty-
eight hours of three formidable
French Privateers roving about thofe
fhores; and Captain Wood being
further fo fortunate as to obtain a
knowledge of the private night- fignal
of the French, got poffeflion of three

more armed veflels of the fame Fleet
at near the fame time.

¢ Subfequently, the capture of the
Ifle of Trinidad formed a principal
objeét in his mind, and in company
with Captain, afterwards Sir R. W.
Otway, Captain Wood waited upon
the Commander -in- Chief, Sir H.
Chriftian, to entreat him to repre-
fent to the Britifh Government the
facility with which the Ifland could
be made a Britith Colony. On the
arrival of Sir Ralph Abercrombie in
January 1797, directions were given
to Captain Wood to infpeét its de-
fences and advife the neceflary mode
of attack, for which he drew out a
plan which was approved and fanc-
tioned by both the General and
Admiral in command ; and upon the
attack being made, Captain Wood
was further direted to haul down
the colours, which having done, he
informed the Admiral that he was
ready to lay them at his feet, but
the Admiral defired him to keep
them, obferving that no one elfe had
fo good a claim to them.

« After further fervice in com-
mand of the Garland frigate,* in
which he ferved on the Coaft of
Africa, and then of the Acafta, off
Breft, and again in the Weft Indies,
throughout all of which fervice he

* Vide Notes concluding 4.
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conducted his operations with his
ufual fkill and gallantry, Captain
Wood was appointed to the Urania,
and afterwards to the Latona in the
year 1806. And it was when in
command of this veflel that in Jan-
uary 1807, he affifted, in conjunétion
with Captain Brifbane of the Are-
thufa, Captain Lydiard of the An-
fon, and the Fifgard, in the taking
of the Ifle of Curagoa; the whole
merit of which enterprife, fays Ralfe,
¢ fome Biographers afcribe wholly
¢ to Captain Brifbane, but it is clear,’
he adds, that they were not ac-
¢ quainted with the particulars.” For
his fervices upon this occafion Cap-
tain Wood was by defire of his
Majefty, George III., prefented with
a gold medal, and on his return to
England, the King conferred upon
him the honour of Knighthood.
Previous to his return, Capt. Woed
had fuperintended, by direétion of
Sir A. Cochrane, the blockade of the
Danith Iflands, which terminated in
their furrender. He was then ap-
pointed to the Captain, of 74 guns,
in which he affifted at the capture
of Martinique. After the rank of
knighthood had been beftowed upon
him, he was appointed to the Nep-
tune, a fecond-rate, in which he
continued in Channel fervice until
1810, when he joined the Pompée,
of 74 guns, and in 1812, while ftill

on fervice in the Channel, fell in
with a French Squadron, which
however efcaped from the Pompée,
the Tremendous, and the Poiétiers,
(by fome accident it would feem in
the night, or early dawn) €in con-
¢ fequence of which a Court Mar-
¢ tial was held, to enquire into the
¢ conduét of Sir James Atholl Wood
< and of Captain Robert Campbell.”
This Court Martial came to the re-
folution ¢ that Sir James was blame-
¢ able for tacking before it was better
¢ afcertained that the enemy had
¢ wove and ftood towards him, &c.,
¢ but that fuch blame arofe from
¢ erroneous impreflions at the time,
¢ and not from any want of zeal for
¢ the good of his Majefty’s fervice.’
Captain Campbell of the Tremen-
dous was fully acquitted.

“ Ralfeadds touching this circum-
ftance, the following opinion, vide
vol. iv. page 192:

“ In the courfe of this work we
have repeatedly differed from the
fentences of thofe Court Martials
which we have had occafion to
notice, and we believe that there
are none from which we differ more
than the one held upon the above
occafion, which attributed blame to
Sir James Atholl Wood. We have
gone through the whole of the mi-

nutes, which are very voluminous,

and it appears clear to us, as we




47

hope to make it appear {o to others, | choice of conduét left ; and #bat bis
that fo far from Sir James being | duty pointed out that line of condu@
blameable, that he had fcarcely a | which he did purfue.”

Of this there cannot be any doubt, fo intenfe and
never-failing had always been upon all occafions, our
Uncle’s devotion to the fervice of his King and country.
Ralfe goes on to give the proofs that it was a mif-
taken verdi, and fucceeds in entirely clearing Sir James
Atholl Wood, adding, that even Lord Keith, the Prefi-
dent of the proceedings, obferved, that ¢ he had great
« difficulty in hazarding any opinion upon the fubjet.”
After this event Sir James ferved in the Mediterranean,
< and was left by Lord Exmouth in charge of the Squadron
“off Catalonia, to prevent the Enemy from throwing
“fupplies into Barcelona. In 1815 he commanded the
¢ Fleet off Toulon and the Coaft of Provence. In the
¢ fame year he was nominated a Companion of the Bath,
¢“and in 1821 made a Rear-Admiral.”

Extra&ts (abridged) from the Naval Biography of Great Britain,
by F. Ralfe, vol. iv. containing the Memoir of Sir Fames Atboll
Wood.,

Our Uncle Sir James was never married. He died
in his rooms in the Albany after but a very fhort illnefs,
in July 1829.

Of our own dear Father, Sir George, we muft all
from our earlieft years, have many remembrances of his
love and affettion for us. I have often heard our Mother
fay, that in our infancy when we were not well or fleep-
lefs, he would watch befide us with the utmoft tendernefs,
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never caring for his own difturbed reft or comfort, and
I can quite well recall his kindnefs in one of our fmall
illnefles of that period, and the joy of going out afterwards
holding a hand of each of my dear Parents. For our
good behaviour and for our manners too he was careful,
and moft anxious was he to imprefs upon us the value of
truthfulnefs, of accuracy, and gentlenefs. In the nurture
of my own children many circumftances have come back
to me, and fhown me that his care was very wife; the
tranfcript doubtlefs of his own moral worth. I have an
impreflion that he held promifes to be efpecially facred,
and that whatever he promifed, however difficult or ha-
zardous, he would fcrupuloufly have performed, at the
rifk of life, had it been needed. To his orphan niece, our
coufin Beffie, he proved himfelf a kindand faithful guardian.
His own young daughters he never liked to be far away,
and their prefence in his home was, I think, moft neceffary
for his happinefs. Every evening, till our early bedtime,
we pafled with him and our mother, whoever might be
the vifitors ; and in the mornings he would not unfre-
quently take us out, fometimes driving us in Sir Mark’s
pony-carriage, and fometimes riding with us, and walking
with us in the Park, and gardens. It was thus, when I
was once alone with him, our dear father upon a horfe that
was not confidered quite fafe, or was fubfequently found not
to have been fo, and myfelf on the little black pony which
alfo went the next year to Otterfhaw, that he met with
that fad accident which not improbably was of fatal import,
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being thrown from this horfe over a gate that he had juft
opened for me to pafs, by which fall his fhoulder was
diflocated. Never can I forget the fhock of that moment,
nor the fpot where I beheld him thrown, beneath the
cheftnut trees in the park at Gatton not very diftant from
the houfe, to which, in an agony of fear and trembling, find-
ing that he could not rife from the ground, I ran, crying for
aflitance. Our mother was one of the firft who heard me,
and then, with the aid of the attending fervants fhe helped
him home, and in the evening Sir Aftley Cooper was fent for
from London to fet the arm. When after long, long ab-
fence, I went to Gatton in 1855, and pafling through the
old familiar rooms, ftood awhile in that where he had lain fo
ill, his patient face feemed once more to look upon me, and
all the fad memories of the time to return as if they had
never been thadowed over by the oblivioufnefs that dims the
paft ; whilft in that room, and in fome of the others alfo, ftill
remained the very furniture (fatin wood inlaid with painted
flowers) that had been ufed by him, by our mother, by
others of the family, and by ourfelves, fo many years be-
fore. Our father was, I believe, always very patient in
illnefs, though I do not think he knew much of what illnefs
is, till latterly ; and then, when but a few months later,
he was dying at his houfe in Clifford Street, my only
recollections are ftill only of patience and of calmnefs the
moft unbroken.* As I dwell now upon the circumftances

* That houfe in Clifford Street belonged to Sir Eliab Harvey, of Rolls Park, in Effex,
being rented for the winter only by our Parents.

H
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of the laft day that my fifter and myfelf were taken to his
bedfide, I feel as I did not and perhaps could not then,
that he knew it was the laft kifs his children would
ever give him. He feems to have paflfed away moft
peacefully, March 1, 1824, in the feventy-fecond year
of his age.

In public life I believe that our dear father was not
without his enemies ; but their judgment can pafs but for
little worth when contrafted with the teftimony given by
all the Commanders-in-Chief of India, under whom he
ferved, to his never-failing performance of his duties as an
officer. Between himfelf and Warren Haftings there ap-
pears to have exifted a perfonal friendthip. In the year
1784, being at the fame time promoted to the rank of
Captain, he was appointed by Mr. Haftings Affiftant-
Quarter-Mafter-General to the force which accompanied
him to Lucknow, where he remained with him until the
death of Mr. Wheeler obliged Warren Haftings to re-
turn to Calcutta. Afterwards, when Haftings was in
trouble, and apprehended difficulty in regard to meeting
- the heavy expenfes of his trial in England, our father
propofed that his friends and adherents in Bengal fhould
make a fubfcription for his aid, offering on his own part,
I think, a confiderable fum, but his propofal was not
refponded to ; yet it was a generous one to make, and as
difinterefted as it was generous. The letters and papers
on this fubject were amongft the letters and papers that
my mother ufed to have. In my own pofleflion I have
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a few, with two flight fketches of his military career,
which fhe gave me, and alfo the copy of a letter addrefled
by Sir Mark to the Earl of Buckinghamfhire, dated from
his houfe in Pall Mall in 18135, in which, though there is
a flight miftake in one or two particulars, not, however, of
any moment, and evidently caufed only by the long diftance
which parted them and prevented perfonal communication,
there is borne a valuable teftimony to Sir George’s high
ftanding, and to his own fraternal regard.

In one of thefe fketches of his foldier-days, our father,
after relating that the divifion to which he was pofted took
the field in Rohilcund in 1772, the Britifh forces con-
tinuing in that part of India till the end of 1776, defcribes
an affair in which he had been engaged, in the words
following :

“1774. Was perfonally detached | fituations and circumftances, in fo
with a Company of Irregular In- | fatisfaCtory and plentiful a manner
fantry in the month of July, to | as to call forth the thanks of the
procure grain for the army, which | Commander-in-Chief for the zeal

fervice I performed, though under | and aftivity I had manifefted on this
the moft difficult and often perilous | occafion.”*

The Rohillas are faid to have been no mean enemy,

» It was not unufual for junior officers in thofe days to be thus complimented by
their fuperiors in command. In Ralfe’s Naval Biograpby, vol. iv. pages 2 and 3, it is
faid, * thatin the year 1794, upon Licutenant R. W. Otway performing fome gallant a&
¢ which enabled the fhip to wear in purfuit of the enemy, that the Admiral (Rear-
¢ Admiral Caldwell of the Impregnable) was fo well pleafed, that he took him by the
¢ hand and returned him thanks publicly on the Quarter Deck.” And other fimilar
inftances are on record. In this gallant deed Lieutenant Otway was affifted by Lieutenant
afterwards Admiral Sir Charles Dathwood, K.C.B., the maternal Uncle of the younger Sir
Mark and of Mrs. Lockwood, his fifter.
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and that it was lefs their numbers than their bravery, dex-
terity with the fword, and fkill in the ufe of war-rockets,
which enabled them to hold their ground fo well againft
their foes. The Mahrattas were a fiercer race, and with
their powerful chiefs, Scindia and Turkojee Holkar, the
Britifh, including our father’s Regiment, the 2d European,
had, during the above period, feveral engagements.
A little later he writes again :—

“ continued with this Regiment to
“which I had been removed, the
« 3d European, in Fort William,
< till the month of Auguft, in the
¢ fame year.”

“1778. Perfonally employed in
“command in 1778 to 1779 on the
“ River below Calcutta on various
¢ duties, for which I received fome
“ commendation from Government;

Amongft our mother’s letters and papers was one of
that date (he was then Lieutenant Wood) addrefled to
him by the Government Secretary, a Mr. Auriol, in which
the latter fays —

 That he is direéted by the Hon.
¢ Governor-General in Council to
« fignify to him their particular ap-
< probation of his conduét for the

“ {pirit he had difplayed in the ex-
¢¢ ecution of the fervice on which he
“ had lately been employed down
¢ the River.” .

Of the fame feafon our father notes further, that
early in 1780 he was again in the field in Upper India,
appointed Staff-Adjutant, and prefent in the trenches at the

fiege and capture, by ftorm, of Fort Lohar.
In 1784, he became Captain ; in 1797, Major;

Gohud.

Then in the

and in 1800, attained the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel.
To return to the year 1781, he fays, in one of thefe
fketches of his life in the field,
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“ 1781 to 1782. Wasemployed |  his whole army had joined againit
“in the province of Malwah, the | *“us, comprifing by his own ac-
¢ whole of the campaign being moft | ¢ count 60,000 cavalry of different
¢¢ arduous and interefting, as though | ¢¢ defcriptions, including 12,000 Pin-
“ on our advance we had only about | ““darries, with a train of artillery and
‘¢ 15,000 Mahratta horfe with fome | “ three battalions of regulars under
““ rocket men oppofing us, yet before | “ French officers, armed, clothed,
“it was concluded, Scindia with | ¢ and difciplined after our manner.”

Some of the narrators of thefe campaigns in India
defcribe thefe bodies of mounted men as ¢ clouds of
¢ horfe.” The army of Madhoo Rao, one of the Mah-
ratta Princes of this time, is faid to have amounted to
100,000 fine cavalry, exclufive of Pindarries. Vide Duff’s
Moabrattas, vol. ii. pp. 239 and 240. The Pindarries it
appears were a bandit tribe of hill horfemen, receiving
no pay, but living on devaftation.

“17981t0 1799. With thearmy | ¢ Shah of Cabul was threatening to
¢“under Sir James Craig when the | ¢ invade Hindoftan.”

In Mill’s Hifory of India, in vol. vi. p. 172, it is faid
that ¢ troops were fent up to guard the frontier under
«Sir James Craig, in the apprehended invafion of the
¢« Affghan chief, Zemaun Shah, in 1798.” And in the
Wellefley Defpatches may be found correfpondence on the
operations, between Sir James and Lord Wellefley.

« 1804 to 1807. Was employed | ¢ pelling the inroad of a predatory
“¢ with my battalion for the cover of | * force which came through the
«¢ Mirzapore during the latter part | « Rewah Pafles in 1806.” Vide
«¢ of the Mahratta war, and in ex- | Addenda, p. 9z.

In after years, in a letter addrefled to him by the
Governor-General Lord Moira (he was then Major-
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General Wood), the former writes thus: ¢ Let me affure
‘“ you that your charaéter is too well known to me for it
¢ to be poffible that I fhould not have you in contempla-
¢ tion when I look forward to ftaff appointments.” And
in conclufion of the fame letter Lord Moira adds, after
defiring General Wood to hold himfelf in readinefs for
immediate acive fervice, * Wherever you may be placed,
I can affure you of my full dependence upon you.”
Dated in November, 1814. There is another letter
written to him by Lord Moira, evidencing the friendly
efteem in which he was held by that nobleman. And in
an Exprefs to our father in the field in November 1813,
upon receiving a Defpatch from Sir George to afk his (Lord
Moira’s) fan&ion for certain movements of the Force he
commanded, the Adjutant-General replies that < his Ex-
¢ cellency confiders them highly expedient, and authorizes
¢ Sir George to carry them into immediate effe&.”

In Sir Mark’s letter to Lord Buckinghamfthire above
mentioned, he writes further, ¢ that his brother, after
¢ being engaged in the defeat of Scindia, was employed
¢ in difturbances in Benares and Oude, and from that
¢ time forward was always a&ively on fervice, and his
¢ fervices much approved by the Commanders-in-Chief
¢ during the fucceffive governments. And laftly, that
¢ for his gallant condu¢t at the capture of Java, the
¢ Prince Regent was pleafed to teftify his approbation,
‘¢ and to honour him with the medal of a general officer.”
And fubfequently, in further reward of all thefe fervices,
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our father was created a Knight Commander of the
Bath in 1815,

More than thirty years previoufly to this, Sir George,
then Lieut. Wood, had been engaged in the Gohud territory
in Upper India, and, as in his own hand he writes,  was
¢ prefent as Aide-de-Camp to the Commanding Officer,
¢ Captain Popham, at the ftorming and capture by furprife
¢¢ and efcalade, of the hitherto efteemed impregnable For-
¢ trefs of Gwalior, in Auguft, 1780.” The ftorming-
party on this occafion was led by an officer named Bruce,
a brother of the Abyflinian traveller.

In many future years, at another fiege of this fame
fortrefs, in June, 1858, were again prefent fome of our
very near of kindred, our father’s grandfons, both young
officers of the 8th Huffars, George Paulet, and Horace-
Montagu, and both dear ones with narrow efcapes of life.

In the paper, or it may be part of a letter, which I
have of our uncle Sir Mark’s, referred to in fome of the
earlier pages here, in which he defignates his father as
¢¢ Alexander Wood, Efq., of Burncroft, Co. Perth, a lineal
¢ defcendant of Wood of Largo,” he gives a flight hiftory
of himfelf, from entering the army under theaufpices of Gen.
Sir Archibald Campbell, rifing to the ranks of Capt., Major,
and Colonel of Engineers, and being for a time Engineer-
in-Chief of Fortifications in Bengal,* to his final return

* During the courfe of thefe fervices, being in England in 1779, Sir Mark (then
Captain Wood) received on the 10th of March that year, about noon, when he had not
the moft diftant idea of leaving England for fome confiderable time, an application
from Mr. Gregory, Chairman of the Court of DireCors, and from Lord Weymouth,
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Parliament for Gatton in 1802 ; throughout all of which
is very apparent, the fame bravery of heart, loyalty
of purpofe, and energy of condu& which diftinguifhed
all this family, himfelf, Sir James Atholl, Sir George,
Lieutenant Andrew, and, doubtlefs alfo, their youngeft
brother, Captain Thomas, of the Madras Engineers,
the father of our Coufin Beflie, his only child, but
of whom fo little remains on record ; faving only, per-
haps, that vivid impreflion. of his great amiability
conveyed to me by my coufin the younger Sir Mark,
who would not unfrequently fpeak of thefe deceafed
uncles of ours, Andrew and Thomas; of the former
more efpecially, and of him he had a manufcript memoir,

to take charge of Defpatches of great importance, and to ftart with them for India that
fame evening. Captain Wood complied, proceeding overland from Helvoetfluys to
Venice, where he hired a Sclavonian veffel to carry him to Alexandria. Contrary winds
detained him in the Adriatic and on the Coaft of Dalmatia for nearly a month, but he
reached Cairo by the middle of May; and then croffing the {mall Defert to Suez, em-
barked for Madras, his ultimate deftination, which he reached in fafety upon the 1ft of
July following ; but met by the way with rather a romantic adventure, in which an armed
French veflel, encountered in the Red Sea, was difabled and baffled in her obje&. This
was to convey to France an Ambaffador from the Mahratta States, for the purpofe of
confirming a treaty with the French, contrary to Britifh interefts ; and it was regarded as
a fortunate as well as moft heroic altion that the Morning Star, the veflel in which
Captain Wood was proceeding to Madras, fhould thus, with but twelve guns and a few
officers, have prevented its fulfilment. His own participation in the affair was evidently
{pirited and gallant in the extreme.

In the United Service Magasine for 1829, p. 1ft, it is ftated that in 1795, when Sir Mark,
then Colonel Wood, prefented to the King, George III., a2 Model in Ivory of Fort William,
Bengal, one of the moft complete Fortreffes in the world, that his Majefty fhowed to him
upon this occafion a lift of the Army arranged by himfelf, including the officers of the Royal
and Eaft India Company’s Services as they would appear in the event of an amalgamation,
an obje& to which his Majefty at that period was giving much of his attention.
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of which he made a gift to me. But, unfortunately, and
much to my regret, it has been loft. But there fill is
left amongft the old papers, all of which alfo were
given to me by the younger Sir Mark, the following

account of Lieutenant Andrew Wood, which fays,

¢ That having entered the navy
‘““not long after his brother James,
““that he ferved with reputation
‘¢ under Sir J. Lockhart Rofs and
¢¢ Captain (afterwards Admiral Lord)
¢ Duncan, to whom he was Lieu-
** tenant when the Spanifh Fleet was
« captured off Cadiz in 1782 ; and
‘‘again Lieutenant in the Monarch
“ when the Dutch Admiral and his
“ convoy were captured off St. Euf-
‘“ tatia. On the Peace in 1785, he
¢ went to India, probably to fee his
¢¢ brothers Georgeand Thomas, who
“ were then in that country. In
“ 1787, he received orders from
““ England to take a fmall veffel to
“ the Straits of Sunda, to give in-
*¢ telligence to thirty fail of rich
¢ Eaft Indiamen, of a war with
¢ Spain. His veflel was wrecked at
¢ the entrance of the Straits, and the
“¢ crew with difficulty faved. In an

“ open boat, however, and in de-
*« fiance of the weather and of the
¢ Malays, who murdered half his
 men, he fucceeded in giving intel-
¢ ligence to twenty-nine out of the
« thirty fhips. Lord Cornwallis, Sir
¢« A. Campbell, and Sir W. Mea-
“ dows, fo highly approved of his
¢¢ intrepid conduét, that they recom-
“ mended him for immediate pro-
“ motion. Anxious to reach Eng-
¢¢ land, and no opportunity offering,
““he unfortunately determined to
¢ buy a fmall boat of lefs than five
¢ tons; and having her decked, he
¢¢ embarked with three Lafcars, and
¢ reached the Cape of Good Hope
“ in fafety. Conceiving he had then
“ furmounted all dangers, Lieutenant
“ Wood again fet fail, in the fame
“ fmall veflel with his foreign fea-
““men, eager for home, but was
‘¢ never more heard of.”

Befides this touching memento of our Uncle Andrew

there may be found in Debrett’s Baronetage for 1824, a

relation of him very fimilar in all important points, to

this. The manufcript memoir was far more full in its
I
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details, but I cannot recall them. Our Uncle Andrew
thus loft his life in the year 1787, unmarried. Our Uncle
Thomas died in 1798. And here may end thefe memorials
of thefe gifted brothers, brothers of one family, each fo
excellent, and all fo fuccefsful, a happy fortune, that does
not often fall to fo many amongft the numerous fons of
a houfehold ; to be valued, therefore, I think, the more,
and the remembrances of them not to be allowed to pafs
away.

To their coufin-german, Colonel Thomas Wood,C.B.,
of the Bengal Engineers, Sir Mark bears this teftimony,
“that he was one of the moft worthy men living,”
and for him, as equally for his brother George, another
moft upright and kindhearted man, our father likewife
poflfefled a great efteem and regard. Colonel Thomas
Wood was alfo an officer brave, and energetic, and fully
to be depended upon; and is faid in the old papers,
to have ferved through the campaigns in India under
Lord Lake, and to have been prefent at feveral of the
memorable engagements of that period.

The eldeft fon of our Uncle Sir Mark, Alexander
Wood, a promifing young officer of the rrth Light
Dragoons, loft his life by a fall from his horfe in 1805,
fcarcely twenty years of age. A fad and bitter blow
it muft have been to the fond father. He lies buried
at Gatton. .

Of others of the family connexions more need not be
mentioned ; only may it be added how much all have
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caufe for thankfulnefs to the Giver of good that fo much
of blefling has fallen in many ways upon their various
fates in life ; more taking all in all, than falls to many.
Upon thofe who are gone to their eternal home, who
were beloved and honoured here, our memories will linger
with a faddened yet hopeful affe®ion; amongft thofe ftill
fpared may a kindly intereft in each other’s welfare not
fail, and the young ones of the family efpecially remember
that the children of the good and brave muft never fuffer
any tarnifh, however flightly, through themfelves, to come
upon the revered names of the departed.

April, 1861.



PNotes Concluding.

I

ParT First.

It has been obferved by a late writer, ¢ that in the feventeenth, and
“ opening of the eighteenth centuries, the Scottith clergymen were fre-
“ quently, if not generally, cadets of noble or gentle families; and that
¢ though their lives were fometimes pafled in even ftraitened circumftances,
¢ yet that thofe amongft them who pofleffed the acquirements, the feelings,
““and the manners of the true gentleman, ftill often retained the friendthip
« of the firft men of the time.” Of the Rev. Alexander Wood, our anceftor,
who appears very certainly to have belonged to this upper claf, it is faid in
the old papers that

¢t upon the abolition of Epifcopacy in Scot- | refuge with fome of his relatives of the
“land, he loft his Church preferment;” | Roxburghe family, at Fleurs, in Normandy,

and then, from one account which has been | and to have died not long after ; that is not
given of him, he feems to have taken | long after the year 1688.

But where this Church preferment was fituated is not fhown, nor the
degree of kinfmanfhip to the Kers; though it is ftated elfewhere that the
fourth Earl of Roxburghe died abroad in 1696, and that other perfons
allied to the family were obliged to feek afylums upon the continent
about the fame period. The coaft of France was often reforted to by
thefe fufferers from civil warfare; fome of its towns being then places of
great ftrength and commercial profperity, where the civilifation of the age
was far advanced, and near to which, not long previoufly, Madame de
Sta€l had educated her family at Les Rochers, in Brittany. In another
record however of the Rev. Alexander Wood, he is fuppofed to have
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remained in Scotland after thefe misfortunes fell upon him, living princi-
pally with the Kers, to have died at Fleurs Caftle, and been buried in the
burial-place of that race; but thefe queftions are now of little moment
beyond the intereft they awaken in following the fortunes of an anceftor
not very remote, in which may be traced not only his own apparent ex-
cellence, but the mournful effeéts alfo of the viciflitudes of thofe troubled
times ; times of which hiftorians tell us that the civil and religious wars
difturbed the whole focial ftate, caufing extreme diforder and mifery, and
the ruin of many families throughout Scotland. And ¢ when after much
“ bloodfhed, caufed by the refiftance of the Scots to the authority of
¢ Charles II., William of Orange afcended the throne, and was compelled
¢ by the Scottifh Prefbyterians to compliance with their demands and the
< fan&tion of a teft by which the clergy were forced to abjure Prelacy, or
“ vacate their charges, denunciations and eje&tments followed all over the
¢ kingdom ;” namely, in the years 1688 and 1689. This was probably,
therefore, the reafon which loft to the Rev. Alcxander'Wood his living,
becaufe he would not abjure Prelacy ; and the Epifcopalians of that period
entertaining alfo very decided Jacobite principles, it is not unlikely that
loyalty to the Stuarts and attachment to the falling dynafty, may have had
an equal fhare in influencing his determination.

There exifts uncertainty as to which of the Woods of Largo firft em-
braced the reformed religion of Scotland ; but the probabilities are that
the younger branch, of James of Lambelethame, if not alfo the elder, had
become Proteftants before the clofe of the fixteenth century, though
perhaps not long before that time. In the earlier part of that century
«Sir David Lindfay of the Mount had attacked the corruptions of the
““ Romifh Church, and led the way for their condemnation. Like the
¢ other Scotch poets of his era, who are faid feldom to have failed, what-
¢ ever might be their theme, to inculcate the love of truth, freedom, and
« right, with the hatred of all things mean, bafe, fhabby, or unrighteous,”
it is not furprifing that Sir David Lindfay found fo much to blame in the
many miftaken fentiments of the priefts of Rome. The rebound, how-
ever, to extreme afceticiim which followed amongft the Puritans, could
fcarcely have been more acceptable to men of deeper and more enlarged
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comprehenfion. The medium courfe in the Epifcopal Church, appears,
as far as it is poffible to form a judgment, to have been the courfe adhered
.to by the family of Largo.

There is a letter in Lord Lindfay’s Lires, in the Appendix to the 2d
volume, from a Rev. Thomas Wood to the Earl of Balcarres, dated at
Largo in 1634, who is called ¢ of Largo,” and who may have been of
this kindred, but not decifively fo, there being no evidence. anywhere
apparently known in proof ; or if he were, he may have been one of thofe
circumftanced as was Robert of Grange, who in the previous century,
about 1572, obtained a charter of legitimation; but whoever this
gentleman, the Rev. Thomas Wood, may have been, his letter is very
undoubtedly a fad and melancholy one.

I
PaARrT SECOND.

Touching William Wood, the third born fon of the Rev. Alexander,
the Epifcopalian Clergyman and father to the Governor of Man, in the
Autobiography of the Rev. A. Carlyle, Minifier of Invereft, at p. 105, is
the following paflage; the time in which he writes being between 1743
and 1745,and the mention placed amongft the obfervances he makes of other
perfons in Glafgow of more than common importance. Dr. Carlyle fays,

1 became acquainted with Mr. Wood’s | which he contra@ed by exerting himfelf
family, where there were three or four very | with the utmoft humanity to fave his Pa-
agreeable daughters, befides the Governor | rifhioners, on the fatal night when the
of the Ifle of Man, and Andrew the Clergy- | Bridge of Newcattle fell.” —Vide the Auto-
man, -who died Re@or of Gatethead, by | biography of Carlyle of Invercfk, page 105.
Newcattle, in the year 1772, of a Fever l

Of this felf-forgetful and devoted man, a true hero though not enlifted
under earthly banners, it is to be regretted that fo little fhould be known ;
though very“likely even in that greatly changed and now overgrown city,
fome faint memory of his excellence may fill remain among the people,
as there appears to exift in the Ifle of Man ofhis elder brother, John Wood
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the Governor. ‘There was a fourth brother of thefe grandfons of the Rev.
Alexander, named alfo Alexander, who has been overlooked in the earlier
notice in thefe pages of his family, who died a youth, and without iffue.
And here likewife muft be fupplied another omiffion in the defignation
of the Rev. Alexander Wood’s maternal grandfather, Brown of Carrington,
Co. Roxburghe, who, like himfelf and the Rev. Robert Ker, was alfo a
clergyman, the Rev. Richard Brown.

Again, in the fame work above referred to, the Autabwgrapb_y of the
Rev. A. Carlyle, when he is writing of fome College Theatricals, and of
the different parts to be taken in the Tragedy of Cato by himfelf and his
friends, in page 99, he fays,

¢ M¢Clean and I allotted the parts: I | “of Seddon was to be Syphax, and Robin.
¢ was to be Cato; he was Marcus; our | ¢ Boyle, Sempronius. Mifs Campbell was
¢ friend Seller Juba; a Mr. Lefly was to | “our Marcia, and Mifs Wood Lucia.”—
¢ do Lucius : an Englifh Student of the name | Autobiograpby of Carlyle of Inverefk, p. 99.

Notes ConcrLuping. II.

The Eftate of Potterhill, Co. Perth, belonging to the father of Jean
Mercer, became fubfequently the property of her grandfon, James Wood,
Efq. afterwards of Keithoek, the eldeft fon of her youngeft child Robert
and Anne Smythe his wife. The fame property was alfo for a time
poflefled by another gentleman of the Mercer family, William Merecer, Efq.,
the father of Col. H. Mercer, 22d Regiment, and of George Mercer, Efg.,
of Gorthy Co. Perth, and Deputy-Lieutenant for the county, who were
always fpoken of as coufins by our uncle Sir Mark, and our father Sir George,
and appointed by the latter, with Gen. Sir James Carmichael Smythe, Bart.,
and Col. Thomas Wood, C.B., as executors to his Will; but the precife
degree of relationfhip between them is not now known, in confequence of
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certain papers of the time being loft. The refemblance between the names
of the eftates of Potterhill and Potter’s Park is merely accidental, the latter
beautiful property having been formerly but a farm appended to Otterfhaw,
as may be feen in any of the old maps of Surrey. Sir James Carmichael
Smythe, a diftinguifhed Waterloo officer, and Lady Carmichael Smythe
were amongft the family circle fo much refpected and beloved at Gatton,
where alfo had died fuddenly, many years before, when ftaying upon a
vifit to Sir Mark, Mrs. Carmichael Smythe, Sir James’s mother, and
daughter of Thos. Holyland Esq. and Mary Elton of Nether Hall, Herefordshire,

Of the Mercer family, one of the early anceftors was a naval adventurer,
as Frafer Tytler calls him, who in the fourteenth century became well
known upon the bordering feas of Scotland for his valiant deeds againft the
Englith. His father was a merchant in high favour at the French court
of Charles VI., and being in one of his voyages taken prifoner by a North-
umbrian cruifer and. carried into Scarborough, his fon, to avenge the infult,
attacked that feaport and made great havoc amongft its fhipping. The
King of England, Richard II., making no attempt to check his ravages,
a wealthy merchant of London, of the name of Philpot, undertook the tafk,
and fitting out an armament, attacked Mercer, and fucceeded in defeating
him and capturing his whole fquadron.

In future years when Perth was the chief city of Scotland, and the
Burgefles of Perth fome of the chief men of the kingdom, the Mercers were
of their number, with the Hays, the Mars,. and others. John Mercer
of this kindred, a Burgefs of Perth in 1625, wrote a hiftory entitled The
Cbronicles of Perth, which is flill extant in the Advocates’ Library in
Edinburgh. - The prefent head of the Mercer family is the Baronefs Nairne,
ufually called the Countefs de Flahaut, from her marriage with a foreign
nobleman. Part of this information regarding the Mercers is taken from
Frafer Tytler’s Hiffory of Scotland, vol. ii. p. 335, and part from other
fources, And further information concerning them will be found in the
Addenda to thefe Memorials, in page 85.
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Notes ConcrLuping. 1II.

Regarding our Uncle Sir James’s fervices in the Garland and in the
Acafta, it is ftated in Ralfe’s Naval Biography that when in command of
the Garland upon the Coaft of Africa, that he was ordered to give chafe
to fome French veflels between the Mauritius and Madagafcar, in which
exploit he captured one of them; but the Garland, unfortunately ftriking
upon a rock fifteen feet below water was wrecked, and with difficulty the
boats got out; in which, however, Captain Wood, finding the enemy
taking advantage of his difafter, pulled up to them, and, by great exertion,
ftill kept his prize. He then contrived to conciliate the natives, who fup-
plied him with provifions, and the French fhip he had feized not being
fufficiently large to take both crews back to the Cape, he fet about con-
ftrufting a veffel of 150 tons, and had completed it, and made fome advance
in another, when the Star floop of war, fent to afcertain his fate, arrived,
in confequence of which Captain Wood was able to fend away his pri-
foners, himfelf and his men following in the French fhip he had taken.
Whilft at Madagafcar it appears that Sir James furveyed the coaft, from
Fort Dauphiné to St. Luce, and about three miles from the latter place
difcovered an anchorage within the reef, capable of containing a numerous
fleet of line-of-battle fhips. When in command of the Acafta in 1803
and in the trying fervice off Breft, Captain Wood captured I'Aventure de
Bourdeaux, and retook from her three merchant veflels the had feized.
Soon after he was ordered to efcort a valuable fleet of merchantmen to
the Weft Indies, where he arrived in February 1805. Previous, how-
ever, to the arrival of the Acafta, Admiral Duckworth, the commander-
in-chief on the ftation, hearing that he was to be recalled, deter-
mined to return in the Acafta, for which purpofe he fuperfeded Captain
Wood in the command of her, nominating him to the Hercule, in which
it was well known that Admiral Dacres intended to hoift his flag ; fo that

K
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by this ftretch of authority Captain Wood was left without command,
and obliged to return to England as a paffenger on board his own fhip.
He made complaint, and Admiral Duckworth was brought to a court-
martial ; but, though acquitted, the Lords of the Admiralty immediately
adopted a regulation to prevent in future any Admiral on a foreign ftation
from exercifing his authority fo much to the detriment of the public
fervice.—Vide Ralfe’s Naval Biography of Great Britain (publifhed in
1824), vol. iv. pp. 181-183, from which the above is abridged. Alfo vol.
ii. pp. 288-300.

In another Naval Biography it is related that Sir James fent fome
valuable communications upon his exploration of the Coaft of Africa, * to
¢ Mr. Arrow{mith, which was fully acknowledged by that able geographer.”
In the memoir of his ancient anceftor, Sir Andrew, in Tait's Magazine, is
noticed the fame power that the latter poffefled for rapidly determining
upon advantageous localities for commerce or for defence, efpecially upon
that of the now well-known port of Gourock near Greenock, with which
he became acquainted when employed by James IV. to quell the infurrec-
tions of the chieftains of the Ifles. The brave man whom he captured,
Sir Donald Dhu, a grandfon of the Earl of Rofs, was the friend of Torquil
M<Cleod (vide page 15), who had refufed to furrender him when fighting for
his inheritance againft the crown, and had thereupon been denounced as a
rebel, and all his eftates forfeited ; but the hiftorian adds this obfervation,
¢ that this monarch’s policy was not always thus to overawe by feverity and
“¢ the fword, but to endeavour alfo by education and the knowledge of the
¢¢ laws, to humanize and improve the people.”—Tytler’s Hiffory, vol. iv.
p. 125. :

It muft have been a painful duty to the gallant Sir Andrew to force into
imprifonment a foe fo courageous yet unfortunate as the ill-fated Sir Donald,
and he can fcarcely have failed to rejoice when, not long after, the captive
knight recovered his liberty, though not again his ruined fortunes, finding
upon the Irifh fhores a refuge and a grave. Of the monument in memory
to himfelf (Sir Andrew Wood), placed upon the laft remaining tower of his
old caftle of Largo by Sir Philip Durham, we can but regret, however
gratefully thould be acknowledged the ftranger’s regard for the heroic
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dead, that it was not a kinfman’s hand that raifed it; but at the time, his
neareft lineal heirs were all in diftant lands, fighting the battles of their
country ; and in thofe days of difficult and tardy communication, fome-
where I think about the year 1787, probably knew not even of what
was pafling in their old anceftral kirktoun of Largo.

Notes ConcLuping. IV.

Regarding other family connections of a ftill earlier time, may be
mentioned a circumftance which none perhaps may now remember but
myfelf. It was that when in our vifits to London, a certain large chariot
much blazoned with arms on the panels, paffed us in the Parks, our
Coufin Beflie ufed to fay that it was the carriage of the Dowager Lady
Hampden, a coufin of our father’s. Afterwards, when fometimes we went
in company with our coufin Robert Lindfay to places of amufement, he
would poirit out to me a lady and gentleman of the name of Wedderburn,
who he faid were diftant relatives, and I remember, though lefs diftinétly,
hearing the fame of perfons of the name of Hope. It never occurred to
me until of later years to feek what might be the foundation for thefe
aflertions, when upon looking into Burke’s Barometage and into an old
Peerage of Debrett’s, I found that the Lady Hampden in queftion was the
daughter of Brown of Ellifton, Co. Roxburghe, and Lady Wedderburn
and the Honble. Mrs. Hope, her fifters. Not unlikely therefore, there
may have been fome relationthip between Brown of Ellifton, Roxburghe,
and Brown of Carrington, Roxburghe, the father of the wife of the Rev.
Alexander Wood. In one old book the name is fpelt Broun. I remem-
ber, alfo, a General Gafcoyne and a General Garth fpoken of as coufins
of Sir Mark and Sir George, but they were, I think, deceafed, and of
other particulars of them I have no recollection.

To carry back the family links to times ftill more diftant, there
is afforded in the Hiffories of Noble Families, by the late Henry
Drummond, Efq. M P., of Albury Park, Surrey, another confirmation
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of the correftnefs of the old Largo Pedigree, it being there ftated,
in vol. ii. p. 20, that Jean, fecond daughter of James, firft Lord Mad-
derty, was married to Andrew Wood.

And to go ftill again beyond that time, there remains on record the
marriage of a fifter of the old Admiral Sir Andrew, Katherine Wood, to
Alexander Spens of Lathallan, high conftable of the town of Crail, in the
reign of James IlI., whofe grandfon, John Spens, married Margaret Dun-
bar, granddaughter and heirefs of George, twelfth Earl of March. The
aunt of this Alexander Spens was Ifabel the wife of Andrew Balfour of
the family of Burleigh, thus by marriage forming a diftant link with the
Woods of Largo, if even Janet Balfour the fpoufe of James Wood of
Lambelethame and Cairngour, were not of this kindred.

Of the family of Lundie, of which came the wife .of the old
Sir Andrew, there exifts at the prefent time a family of Lundin, of
Auchtermairnie, Fyfe, whofe ancient name was Lundie, and the
lands of whom in very olden days embraced nearly the whole of the
Parith of Largo, whilft one of their heireffes married in the end of the
twelfth century Robert, a younger fon of King William the Lion. He
affumed her name, and their defcendants continued, through lineal heirs,
in an unbroken fucceffion of fons, for 450 years. Of fome one of thefe,
Elizabeth Lundie, the wife of Sir Andrew, was, moft probably, the
daughter. The family is entitled to quarter the Royal Arms of Scotland,
of which a grant was fpecially made to them by Charles II. in 1679, in
commemoration of their defcent from the above-named fovereign. Their
prefent head is, according to Burke, the Baronefs Willoughby d’Erefby.

In Murray’s account of remarkable places in North Britain, the
writer fays that “in a park a fhort way to the weft of Largo, are fituated
« three fharp, ftraight ftones, feveral yards high, called ¢ the Standing Stanes
“ <of Lundie.”” Likewife * that Balgonie Caftle,” fuppofed formerly to
have been in the pofleffion of the Lundie family, ¢ ftands upon the river
“Leven, a little way before it merges into Largo Bay.” And again,
““that near Upper Largo is Largo Houfe, furrounded by beautiful
“«grounds, the feat,” to the clofe of the laft century, of Sir P. H.
¢ Durham ; to the north of the village being the fine hill called Largo
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¢ Law, which rifes to the height of 1000 feet above the fhore.” And
furthermore “ that at Upper Largo was born Sir Andrew Wood, the
“celebrated Scottifh Admiral, who received the Barony of Largo from
“James IV. as a reward for his fervices againft the Englith.”

In regard to the defignation in the Heralds’ College of the Woods of
Largo, as the ““ Baronial Family of Wood of Largo,” there appears to be
a meaning in the term ¢ Baronial ”” in Scotland, lefs than is underftood
of it in England, for it is to be obferved that the fame diftinétive
title is given to other Scottifh families and their chiefs defcribed as
Free Barons, who otherwife are fimply and only efquires or gentlemen,
though of the firft degree. ¢ There is a diftinction in the hierarchy of
“ranks beyond the Grampians. An eftate, held direétly of the Crown,
“was a Lairdthip. When held of any of the great families, fuch as the
“ Earls of Sutherland or Dukes of Argyle, they were but Guidmanthips.”
A fuperiority was another term beftowed in Scotland upon the tenure
of certain lands, for the purchafe or poffeflion of which grants of charter
from the Crown feem alfo to have been neceffary. Sir Andrew Wood is
faid to have held the fuperiority of Inch Keith, which is an ifland in the
Firth of Forth, oppofite to the Harbour of Leith, poffefling “ feveral fine
“ {prings of water, which, from the circumftance of their occurring at an
“¢ elevated level above the fea, and never being exhaufted, are prefumed to
“obtain their fupply by a fubmarine paffage from the high hills of Fyfe.”
Formerly it was fortified, but the fortifications were demolifhed by order
of the Scottifh Parliament fometime in the fixteenth or early in the feven-
teenth century.

The defcendants of the Admiral feem to have cherithed a love for the
fcene of his gallant actions, and until the decadence of his houfe, to have
made their homes within the vicinity of the Firth of Forth. In later
years, Perth and its neighbourhood, and Glafgow, became the dwelling-
places of the Woods of Largo. Now, the family, excepting in the line
of Robert, the younger brother of Alexander heir to the Governor of
Man, is known no more in the land of its ancient diftintive name, having
found in Englith halls a clime better favoured. At Otterfhaw and at
Potter’s Park there were no extended interefts beyond their beauty, and
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now to fome of us their faddened memories. At Gatton the range was
wider, and connefted even with the political hiftory of our country,
with the fortunes of which, in times of war efpecially, -it will have
been feen how often were interwoven the lives of feveral of our an-
ceftors, of whom it is no light caufe for gratitude that all that can be known
of them manifefts them to have been without exception, loyal, zealous,
and trufty men. In connelion with the royal race of which the ancient
Sir Andrew and his fon the fecond Sir Andrew, who ftood to the laft be-
fide the dying king at Falkland, were friends fo faithful, it may not be out
of place to give the relation here that from the Palace of Scone, in the city
of Perth, was carried away by Edward I. of England, in 1296, the far-
famed Fia Lail, or Fatal Stone, “to which fuperftition had led the Scots
“to pay the higheft veneration, and confider as the true palladium of
“ their monarchy, and which was afterwards removed to the Abbey of
“ Weftminfter, and formed into a part of the coronation chair of our own
“fovereigns. At Perth, alfo, in the freet called the Shoegate, was the
“ Palace of Gowrie, or Gowrie Houfe, in which in the year 1600 was
“ enalted the frightful and treafonable attack of Alexander Ruthven upon
« the King, James VI.; the plot for inveigling him into their power being
“fuppofed to have been fhared in by his elder brother, Earl Gowrie,
“ and their objet to have been, if not his murder, yet his imprifonment,
““ and the transfer to themfelves of the whole influence of the crown. His
“ efcape was marvellous, and his courage full worthy of the royal lines from
“ which he was defcended. After the confifcation of the Gowrie and
 Ruthven properties in confequence of this high treafon, Gowrie Houfe
“ became the property of the town of Perth, and after being for a time
“ufed for barracks was levelled to the ground, and now the Jail and
“ County Buildings ftand upon its fite.” (Aéridged from Lawfon’s Re-
markable Confpiracies, vol. i. from p. 290 to 326.)

Many other changes have taken place in the town of Perth in the
courfe of the laft century, and not only feveral more of the old buildings
been difmantled and deftroyed, but many new ones ereéted ; and ftreets
feem now to cover the lands fuppofed to have formed a part of the pro-
perty of Burncroft belonging to our grandfather, and all of which his fon

»
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Sir Mark fold away before he purchafed Piercefield or Gatton. In
which of the churches or chapels of Perth may have been the laft refting-
place of the family of our great-grandfather, Mark Wood, Efq. the
youngeft fon of the Rev. Alexander the Epifcopalian clergyman, I
have never heard; but to the memory of his own youngeft fon, Robert,
and Anne Smyth his wife, 2 monumental tomb fill exifts, though
dilapidated. Refearch would, perhaps, difcover the graves of his elder
brother and family, and, probably, amongft the churches of Glafgow be
found alfo that of William Wood, the father of the Governor of Man,
and if fuccefsful, fome of their defcendants might not regret to be able
to refcue them from deftruttion.

Notes ConcrLubping. V.

Of the Governor of Man, in the references made to him, he is fome-
times mentioned as ¢ deceafing without iffue ;” but this was not the real
fact. He married, as it is entered in an old pedigree, ‘“a daughter of
¢ Riddell, of Scull, of Scotland,” probably amongft the Weftern Ifles, in
Skye, or Harris, or South Uift, and not unlikely of one of the old families
of the Riddells, and had three daughters, all deceafed before the year 1808,
of whofe fortunes no traces feem to be now remaining.

Of the hiftory of the Ifle fo conne&ted with his own, fome flight remi-
nifcences may claim a more than common intereft here ; yet apart from
this, it poflefles a more extended one than moft other parts of this country
of England, for here longeft lingered in the Druid worthip of the facred
groves, the conneting links with thofe more ancient creeds in which can
be traced fo much of the hiftory of a purer faith, and in which may be
obferved alfo fo large a concurrent teftimony to the revelations of Scripture.
¢ In the barbarian irruptions of the fifth and fixth centuries, this ifland,
«¢ though fo remote and fmall, did not efcape the univerfal fate of Europe,
‘¢ when invaders from Denmark conquered it, and then after a fucceffion of
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“ twelve Manx kings, fome of them of Scandinavian origin, it fell a vi®im
““to the viciflitudes of fucceflive and frequent petty wars until the year
¢ 1407, when it was given by Henry IV. to Sir John Stanley, to be held
“ on the payment of a caft of falcons to the king, at his coronation. Sir
¢ John thus became the King of Man, and in his family it continued,
« though fuffering in the difturbed times of the Commonwealth, till 1730,
 when it defcended to James, the firft Duke of Atholl. A few years
«¢later, in 1765, the fovereignty of Man was fold to the Britith Crown
«¢ for 70,000/. and a rental of 2000/, a-year, and thus by purchafe, not by
< conqueft, was annexed to the dominions of our fovereigns. Man has
¢ been allowed to preferve her ancient inftitutions, which are of diftant
“ origin, and, perhaps,” fays this writer, * the moft perfe& living types of
“the old Feudal Governments. The Legiflature is compofed of the
¢ Governor, appointed by the King or Queen, his council, the bifhop,
¢ and law officers, and the Houfe of Keys, a miniature Parliament, con-
« fifting of agricultural and other gentlemen. Caftletown is the feat of
< the Government, and the place where the Manx Parliament aflembles,
and at Kirk Michael, a pi¢turefque hamlet near, is the Bifhop’s Palace.”
Abridged from a fmall Itinerary by Adams.

The armorial efcutcheon of the Ifle of Man bears upon it a fingular
device, of which the origin is apparently unknown, though certainly
derived from very ancient time, and probably from Pheenicia. In Clarke’s
Heraldry it is thus defcribed : * Arms of Man, three legs in armour, con-
“ joined in the fefs point, fpurred and garnifhed ; which Philpot fays was
<« the Hieroglyphic of expedition, and Nifbet that itcame from the Sicilians,
¢ the ancient poffeffors of the Ifle before the Chriftian Era.” The words
attached to this device, “ Quocunque gefleris, ftabit,” are faid to imply
ftability ; and on the reverfe of the Manx coin is the Eagle and Child of
the Stanley family, with their motto of fimilar meaning, *“Sans changer.”
No creft appears to have belonged to thefe arms, nor does it feem to have
been ufual to attach crefts to the heraldic bearings of communities.
¢ They befitted more appropriately commanders engaged in military or
“¢ naval combat, and are faid to have been worn in ancient times upon
< the higheft part of the helmet not only as a rallying point for their



73

< followers and men, but alfo as a mark of diftin&tion, being defignated
¢« as badges generally fignificant of fome notable ation or thing pertaining
“to the families that bore them, and conferred for their dignity and
¢ honour; the firft foveraigne that ever gave coate of armes to his
“ foldiers,” an older writer fays, * having been the King, Alexander the
« Great, who, defiring to exalt by fome fpeciall means of favour his
¢¢ ftouteft captains, and by the advice of Ariftotle, he gave unto the moft
¢ valiant, certain fignes and emblems to be painted upon their armours
“ and banners as tokens for fervice in his wars.”

It is noticed by another writer, “ that the ancients for the moft part
¢ made choice of lions, dragons, and ferpents, or of fuch other animals
« for their enfigns, as might denote ftrength, cunning, ftratagem, and
« wifdom.” Thus the Eagle, the emblem of majefty, was the fymbol of
ancient Rome, “ being a bird of a nature moft bold, generous, laborious,
“ and enduring ; ” the Owl, “the bird of night,” with her power to fee
through the darknefs, was facred to the goddefs of the Athenians, Minerva,
the Aftarte Baaltis of the Pheenicians, called by them ¢ the illuftrious,
¢ guiding, Holy One;” the Pegafus, emblematical to the ancient Aflyrians of
the fhip carrying knowledge through the earth, was the chofen fymbol of
the people of Corinth; the Sphinx of Chios. A Ram’s head was the
badge of the Macedonian conqueror; a Star upon the brow of Julius
.Czfar. The Griffin was confecrated to the Sun; the Dolphin, fuppofed
by fome to have been the Hieroglyphic of naval power, by others was
confidered from their obfervations upon its nature, to have been the
allegorical reprefentation of a wife and prudent prince.

" Similar emblems are even now poflefled by Britifh families, and the
Sphinx at the prefent day is the creft of that which bears the name of
Afgill.* Precious ftones alfo continue to be reprefented in Heraldry, and
fome of the colours of Blazons appear to indicate as their origin, thofe of
the gems worn upon the Breaftplate of the High Priefts of Ifracl. The
patriarchal crofs, fo called becaufe appropriated to the patriarchs, was

* Of a General Afgill, our dear mother'’s eldeft brother, Major Remington of the
Madras Cavalry, married a daughter. He died fubfequently in 1817 at Bath aged 34,
and was buried in the Abbey Church of that city.

L
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twice croffed upon their pennons, denoting it is faid with prophetic
meaning, the Saviour’s atoning Sacrifice, free both for Jew and Gentile.
Upon the ftandards of the Tribes are fuppofed to have been woven the
figures of the creatures by which they were fymbolifed, as the Lion of
Judah, the Ship of Zebulon, the Hind of Naphtali, the Wolf of Ben-
jamin. In Zebulon, dwelling on the fhores of Canaan, the art of naviga-
tion for fome time flourithed ; and in the Prophet Ifaiah are to be found
the ftill familiar words, revealing the grace and beauty of their works, and
the feeling fuch works in all ages call forth, “ Wherein fhall go no galley
““ with oars, neither fhall gallant fhip pafs thereby.” Through all times
fince then, the fhip has defcended, yet to be the badge of feafaring men, and
yet again perhaps to be given, as in bygone centuries, to be borne in arms,
«¢ thips being properly fo borne by thofe who have diftinguifhed themfelves,
¢ and raifed themfelves to pofts of honour by their fervices upon the fea.”
Thus the fhip came into the arms of Wood of Largo.

To the armorial bearings of the different families who have been con-
ne€ted with the Woods of Largo, there is alfo attached a great intereft,
for amongft them are feveral which ftrengthen the truth of the obfer-
vation that almoft all Heraldic mottoes bear a ferious, and often a
religious meaning.  As of the Kers of Cefsford, ““ Pro Chrifto et patrid,”
exprefling in words fo few the higheft rule of the Chriftian’s life. ~ Of the
Browns of Haddington, faid to be of the fame kindred as the Browns of
Roxburghe, * Floreat Majeftas,— May excellence profper.” Of the Earls
of Dundonald, ¢ Virtute et Labore,—By virtue and diligence ; ” the former
the only fure foundation for any happinefs in life, the latter the mainfpring
of fuccefs. Of the Mercers, in allufion it is fuppofed to their ancient
prowefs upon the great fea, the motto is fimply its name, *“ The Grit Poul,”
which was alfo their flogan or war-cry. Of the Scotch Ramfays who are
faid to be of German origin, and amongft whom there feem to have been
naval adventurers as mentioned in fome records, it is not known to which
branch belonged our father’s mother, though moft likely to Bamff, but one
family of the name which became conneéted by marriage with Mercer of
Aldie about the year 1640, and twice likewife with Wood of Bonnytoun,
bears the words ¢ Spernit pericula virtus,—Courage fets at naught dangers,”

——————
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Of the Smythes of Methven the motto is not unlike our own, ¢ Mediis
tranquillus in undis,— Calm amidft the waves;” the creft being a Dolphin,
again betokening families whofe anceftors have been engaged upon the
fea. Of the ancient Lindfays, ¢ Endure fort,— Endure bravely.” Of the
Balfours of Munghanny, to whom belonged the proprietorfhip of the Ifle
of May at the mouth of the Scottifh Firth, beneath the fhadow of which
Ifle it was that the gallant Sir Andrew commenced his wonderful battle
with Sir Stephen Bull, the motto was ¢ Fordward,” in allufion, it is faid,
to their hereditary office of Wardens of the Forth. Of the Balfours of
Burleigh, in the old Baronage of Douglas the motto is given in thefe words,
“ Omne folum forti patria,” fuggefting, poflibly, the neceflity in all things
valuable, of laying well the firft principles. Of the Wemyfs of Bogie, it
is in the words only ¢ Je penfe.” Of the Riddells of Riddell, Roxburghe,
¢ I hope to fhare.” Ofthe Gourlays, ¢ Profunda cernit.” Of the Baron
Madderty, the motto was anciently “ Virtutem coronat honos,” in old
Latin; alfo in Scotch, ‘“ Gang warily ;” and again, apparently the fol-
lowing, ¢ Prius mori quam fidem fallere,—Rather to die than to betray
one’s truft;” whilt now of the Drummond family, folemn and im-
preflive is the ever-neceded fupplication of our frail humanity, *Lord
have mercy.” Of the Humes or Homes, to whom belonged Alifon, the
wife of the fecond Sir Andrew, and mother to James Wood of Lambele-
thame and Cairngour, *True to the end.” Of Spens of Lathallan,
¢ Si Deus, quis contra?” Of the ancient Lundies, “Tam genus quam
virtus.” And of the Woods of Largo themfelves, with their fhip amidit
the waves, ¢ Tutus in Undis,” is not the fymbol one of the moft poetical
and moft perfe&t of all? Life furrounded by dangers, but ever fafe
beneath the guidance of Heaven.
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L

THE CoAT-or-ARMS OF
Major-GENERAL S1r GEoRGE AND LADY Wo0D oF GATTON AND OTTERSHAW, SURREY.

No fupporters are here, as our father never became the chief or head of
his family, his elder brother Sir Mark being living, to which Chiefship (as it
is ftyled in the grant of the appropriate arms of Wood of Largo) and Re-
prefentation of the Admiral Sir Andrew, the diftinGtion of the fupporters
is moff fricly limited, and can belong to none other but his lawful
Reprefentative.

The emblem of the fhip in full fail is further faid to have been found,
not only upon many of the tombs of Pompeii, but upon thofe alfo in Rome,
of the early Chriftians of the dark days of perfecution and martyrdom,
being called by them ¢ the Heavenward bound fhip,” and having been
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to fome of the ancient Pagans before them the figurative fign of the rapid
paflage of human life. (¥Vide Macfarlane’s Catacombs of Rome, p. 112.)

In Marryat’s Year in Sweden are many interefting particulars given of
the equally ancient Vikings and their thips of that long paft period, in the
very forms of which, drawn up upon the thore, they chofe their fepulture
when all their voyagings on earth were over.

Notes ConcLuping. VI.

In conneftion with names, it may be obferved that one of the deceafed
brothers of our father Sir George Wood, was baptized by the names of
David Greme, but whence their origin is now unknown, and that the
fecond name of our father, though for long omitted in all mention of him,

.was Hay, the impreflion being that this name had come to him from
Hays of the family of Kinnoul.

- Amongft other ancient Scotch families there is one in which the inter-
marriages have been very fimilar to thofe amongft the Woods of Largo,
namely in Pringle of Whytbank, but apparently without any relationfhip
between them, excepting of the ladies with whom they allied them-
felves. Of the anceftors of the Whytbank family, one anceftor married
early in the fixteenth century Margaret, daughter of Lundie of that
Ilk; another a Home; another of the family a Brown; another a
"Ker, and again a Lundie ; and it may with even more intereft be told
that from this fame ancient Lundie family defcended by a great-great-
grandmother, James Graham of Claverhoufe, the gallant Dundee.

In the name of our Uncle, Sir James Atholl Wood, there appears fome
evidence of acquaintancefhip between the families, befides the fa&t of our
grandfather’s coufin-german, John Wood, about ten years after the birth
of Sir James, becoming Governor of the Ifle of Man, which ftill then
(in 1761) belonged to the Dukes of Atholl, all of which may be better
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accounted for in page go. Of other links, the eighth Earl of Dundonald
had a fon born about the fame time as our Uncle Sir James, who
received the fame names, becoming afterwards the Honble. and Rev.
James Atholl Cochrane.

A clergyman of the name of Murray (the Rev. Henry Murray) married
our great-grandfather, Mark Wood, Efq., to Jean Mercer, and baptized
their eldeft fon Alexander, fubfequently heir to his coufin John of the Ifle
of Man. The Rev. H. Murray was an Epifcopalian and not a Prefbyterian
clergyman, and of the Epifcopal Church of Scotland it is evident that our
grandparents and all their family were members.

PepiGrEE IN CoNCLUSION.

The Pedigree concluded from the family of the Rev. Alexander
Wood, the Epifcopalian clergyman. (Vide pages 31 to 33.)

His youngeft fon, Mark of Perth, married to Jean Mercer, daughter of
Mercer of Potterhill, left furviving Alexander, who became Lineal Repre-
fentative of Wood of Largo in 1777, and Robert. From the former,
Alexander, defcended the five brothers, Sir Mark, Sir James Atholl,
Sir George, Lieutenant Andrew, and Captain Thomas, and a daughter
Jane married to Colonel Williamfon, whofe only child, alfo an officer in
the army, is deceafed without heirs ; whilft from Robert defcended James
of Keithock, William, Colonel Thomas, C.B., and Mrs. Martin Lindfay.
Of thefe fons of Robert Wood, the defcendants are his grandchildren,
Colonel James Wood, late of the Fifth Dragoon Guards; Mrs. Collins,
deceafed, whofe eldeft fon, William Collins Wood, Efq. of Keithock,
Perththire, has been appointed to the name by his maternal grand-uncle,
James; alfo Henry Wood, Efg. formerly of the Bombay Engincers,
and Margaret his fifter, married to Major Moor, R.S.A., and ].P. of
Pixton Hill, Suffex. The only other members of the family of Wood
of Largo, are in the families of Rachel, wife of the late W. J. Lockwood,
Efq. of Dews Hall, Effex, Verdurer of Epping Foreft, her fon Colonel
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Mark Wood of the Coldftream Guards, appointed to the name by
his maternal uncle Sir Mark the fecond Baronet, Major Alexander
Wood of the Madras army, and in thofe of ourfelves,—George Wood,
Efq. the prefent Heir of Line and Reprefentative of the ancient Admiral
Sir Andrew, Frances Mary, wife of the Rev. Horatio Montagu, M.A. of
Cambridge, formerly a Lieutenant in the Royal Navy (fon of the late
M. Montagu, Efq. of Little Bookham, Surrey, and grandfon of the Hon.
Henry Hobart, M.P., youngeft fon to the firft Earl of Buckinghamfhire),
and Georgina, wife of the Right Hon, Admiral Lord George Paulet, C.B.,
the only fon and only daughters of Major-General Sir George Wood,
Knight Commander of the Bath, of Gatton and Otterfhaw, Surrey, and
Frances Vic his wife, daughter to John Remington, Efq. of Barton End
Houfe, Gloucefterfhire, a Deputy-Lieutenant of that county; George
Wood, Efq. alone inheriting in the place of Alexander his grandfather,
lawful fucceffor to John Wood, the Governor of Man.

For our children, let me add fome lines of verfes found not long ago,
my own dear children to remind of their mother’s ftill earneft prayer,

What then fhould be our life on earth,
Through all the ever fleeting hours ?

—Not alone for felf to live,
But for the Heaven that rules above,

And waits our coming there ;
For the caufe that lacks affiftance,
For the wrongs that need refiftance,
For the future in the diftance,

For the good that we can do,
The help that we can give, the happinefs beftow.
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Since completing thus far (February 1862) thefe Memorials, I have feen
by an accident, another work upon Britifh Family Antiquity, including
the Baronetage of England and Scotland, by William Playfair, Efq. in
which are mentioned the Woods of Largo, and where alfo in the Preface
to one volume and in the Addenda to another, may be found fome in-
terefting information upon the fcience of Heraldry, and fome juft remarks
upon the influence of rank when beftowed upon thofe who have well
ferved their country. Of the former it is faid with regard to “ Supporters
¢ placed upon the fide of an Efcutcheon to fupport or hold up the fhield,
<¢ that the firft origin of them was from the neceffity in ancient Tourna-
““ ments of expofing the fhields of the different Knights to public view
‘¢ before the lifts were opened, when they were held up by fervants or
“ pages under the difguife of Lions, Bears, Griffins, &c.; or from the
“ cuftom of any perfon who was to be invefted with any badge or honour,
< being led up by two other perfons to the Prince beftowing it.” And
alfo * that Bearing Coats of Arms fupported, is, according to the Heraldic
“ rules of England, the prerogative only of thofe called Nodiles Majores,
¢ namely, Dukes, Marquifes, Earls, Vifcounts, and Barons, or of Knights
¢ of the Garter, Knights of the Bath, and, laftly, fuch perfons as the King
 choofes to permit the ufe of them.” It appears that the fame rule
applies to Coats of Arms in Scotland.

Upon the latter fubject the author of this rather rare work obferves,
that ¢ He only is entitled to honours who has rea//y ferved his country by
< effefting her fability, fighting her battles, or adding to her wealth by
¢ fair mercantile purfuits; in conducing to her political happinefs and
¢¢ moral improvement by the proper ufe of his talents, or in adminiftering
“ to her internal comforts and amelioration, by making philofophy and
“ agriculture fubfervient to their produ€tion. If in reading the fketches
¢ of the ennobled of thefe lands the reader be unable properly to value
¢« the country which has produced fo much talent, patriotifm, and virtue,
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‘it muft be by his own deficiency, but if he has been fo fortunate as to
*“ inhale his firft breath in fuch a country, diftinguithed above all others
by equal and well-regulated laws, by civil and religious liberty, and by
“ a general civilifation and philanthropy, he may juftly be proud of his
““ noble countrymen.” Yet there can never be any caufe for which vain-
glorioufly to eftimate diftin&ions belonging to one’s birth. They are
advantages ever to be valued, and it is a blefling where honourable fame
only is attached to our name, but powerful as may be the force of nature,
ancient anceftry in itfelf alone can confer no fan&ity upon the foul. As
Poets write

¢ True honour is a thing divine ;
¢ It is the mind precedence takes,
‘€ It is the fpirit makes the fhrine.”

¢ And nothing do we inherit truly
¢ But what our a&ions make us worthy of.”

And again, as in the expreflion of another, we can but feel that the mind
of a reafonable being muft fall beneath the true ftandard, that of the per-
feétion towards which fhould be the afpirations of our obedience, and he
muft lower his birthright in the Chriftian focial order, if he fail in himfelf
to cherifh, and in thofe over whom his influence extends

¢ To teach, high thought, and amiable words,

¢ And courtlinefs, and defire of good name,
¢ And love of truth, and all that makes a man.”

In this work will be found alfo a reply, as it might almoft be called, to
my queftion afked in page 22, there being thefe words in a note upon the
Woods of Largo, namely, ¢ that Sir Mark Wood obtained a matriculation
““of the arms granted to Sir Andrew Wood, from the Lyon Office,
¢ Edinburgh, in Auguft 1809,” thefe being the fame arms inherited by
the Governor of the Ifle of Man, and now again by George Wood, Efq.
of Childown Hall, Surrey, the prefent Reprefentative of this family.

M
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ADDENDA FOR DECEMBER 1862.

I. Firft, of references to the various fources of the information given in thefe
preceding pages which are not mentioned as they have occurred,
and which may be arranged nearly as following—namely, in the
earlier part, commencing in page § to 6 from the general hiftory of

the times, and in the Notes Concluding from pages 60 to 76
From Blackwood’s Magazine for January 1860 . . 60 and 61
From Debrett’s Peerage . . . . . . 6o
General Hiftory . . . . . . 61
From Frafer’s Magazine for ]anuary 1 862 . . . . 61
From Burke’s Commoners . . . . . . 68
Again from Blackwood and from F: rafer . . . 69

Of the arms of the Ifle of Man, and of the Manx Com and motto,

given to me by my beloved and lamented hufband, who took

a great intereft in the progrefs of thefe Memorials . . 72
From his Hiftory of Etruria Celtica, by Sir W. Betham . . 73
"From an old and valuable Di€ionary by Bailey, printed in 1736,

given by him to our fon, Horace Montagu . . 73 and 74
From the Affembly’s Annotations, another book of his . . 74
From Clarke’s Heraldry . . 74
And again, from Burke’s Commoners and Lodgc ] Pecrage 75 and 76

II. 'Secondly, of further information obtained by fome refearch in the
Library of the Britith Mufeum, by our dear eldeft daughter, who
found in the continuation of Douglas’s Baronage of Scotland, en-
titled the Peerage by Wood in furtherance and completion of
that work, in vol. ii. p. 621, this ftatement, that ¢ Elizabeth,
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«¢ daughter of Sir David Wemyfs, married, in 1597, Alexander
““Wood of Lamyletham,” the fame no doubt as the fixth Lineal
Reprefentative of Wood of Largo, great-grandfon of the Admiral
Sir Andrew, who is defcribed in the Pedigree as ¢ Alexander,
“ferved heir of his father James Wood, in the lands of Lambele-
¢¢ thame and Newmylne in 1596, and alfo in certain lands in and
¢ near Pittenweyme in the year 1600.”— Vide  Pedigree.”

Again, in an Hiftorical account of Ancient Lands of Scotland, referred

to in Douglas, it is ftated that ¢¢Alexander de Spens of Lathallan,

¢ married, in 1458, Kate Wood, and had iffue;” one amongft them

being father to John de Spens, the hufband of Margaret Dunbar,

heirefs to the Earl of March; and that, ¢An affignation to a

“ 19 years’ tack of the teind fheaves of the lands of Lathallan, by

¢ Alexander Wood of Grange, to Arthur Spens, fiar of Lathallan,
““ was made between them, bearing date June 8, 1581.”

This Alexander muft doubtlefs have been the fecond fon of the fecond

Laird, as may be feen by reference to the Pedigree, and in page

68 may be found another mention, from Burke's Commoners, of

the marriage of Alexander Spens to Katherine Wood, fifter
to the Admiral.

In the fame Douglas’s Baronage, but in the older work which this

author’s death prevented him from concluding, it is faid of later
years, in page 541, that ¢ William Smythe of Methven, born in
“ 1646, married Anne Watfon, and had Margaret, the wife of
- «T. Carmichael; Jean, of Martin Lindfay ; and Anne, of Robert
“Wood.” And further, that ¢ David Smythe of Methven, and of
< Barnhill, brother to the above William, married for his firft wife,
“““about the year 1704, a daughter of Mercer of Potterhill,” the fifter
of my great-grandmother Jean, wife to Mark Wood.

In the Pedigree of Mercer of Aldie, of which a copy has kindly been

prefented to me, the line of Mercer of Potterhill of this family of
whom the firft Potterhill married Helen Drummond, ends in four
granddaughters, there being to this line no male heir, which confirms
the ftatement in one of the old papers of my uncle Sir Mark Wood,
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that his grandmother had been poffefled of property in Perth-
thire, not unlikely including the lands of Burncroft, afterwards
belonging to her eldeft fon Alexander. /ide note 2, p. 63.

Of the Mercer family, the following obfervationsare made in Playfair’s
Antiquities, in the vol. on the Scotch Baronetage, namely, ¢ that
““the Mercers are a very ancient family in Scotland. From their
“armorial bearings it has been conjetured that they were affumed
““by a progenitor who had been engaged in the Crufades. In the
“reign of David II., between 1329 and 1390, John Mercer of
¢ Perth purchafed the lands of Meikleour from Mauritius de
¢¢ Cramond, but afterwards the title of the family was taken from
¢ Aldie ; of which place was alfo the family, afterwards Baronets,
““now extin. This appellation of Mercer of Aldie came to the
 family through the eftate of Aldie being given as a marriage-
“ portion to the Lady Aldia Murray, daughter to the Earl of
¢ Tullibardine, upon her marryingto William Mercer, of Meikleour;
¢ which William is defcribed as brave and generous, and in the days
“of feudal ariftocracy to have ftrongly fupported the family of
¢ Murray. On this occafion the Mercers afflumed the mullet of
“ Murray as part of their arms, and as a lafting cement of family
¢t connexion. The Caftle of Aldie was built in the 16th century,
“and ftands in the parifh of Tulliebole in the fhire of Kinrofs,
¢ but being uninhabited is gone into decay.”— Vide volume on
the Scotch Barometage, pp. 59 and 110,

There are various intermarriages of this family mentioned in the fame
work, and in Douglas’s Baronage of Scotland ; of which, thofe apparently
neareft in relation and intereft to the Woods of Largo, are, of Jean, daugh-
ter of Smythe of Braco and Methven, to W. Mercer of Edinburgh, about
1640; of Sir David Wardlaw of Pitreavie, 7th Baronet, to Jean Mercer of
Aldie, about 1720; and of an earlier date, Sir Thomas Stewart of Grand-
tully, who died in 1608, married Grifel, daughter of Sir Lawrence Mercer
of Meikleour, leaving no lineal heirs, but collateral great-nieces, of whom
Grifel Stewart married Sir John Drummond of Logie Almond; Helen,
Crichton of Ruthven ; Aune, Seton of Touch ; and Jean, Sir James Mercer
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of Aldie, which Sir Jamesdoes not appear in the Mercer Pedigree, though
there is a James noted of about this date, 1620, but without particalars,
younger brother to William, the firt Mercer of Potterhill.

Of Sir David Wemyfs, the father of Elizabeth wife to Alexander
Wood of Lambelethame, it is faid in the fecond volume of the Peerage
in comtinuation of Dozglas, between pages 618 and 621, that this Sir
David was grandfather to the firft Earl of Wemyfs, being feventcenth in
defcent from the founder of the family, and having married Cecilia, daugh-
ter of William, fecond Lord Ruthven. He was likewife Laird of Bogie,
whilft his father Sir John is ftated to have reccived a grant of the lands of
Wefler Wemyfs from David Wood of Craig, at that time Comptroller of
Scotland, an earlier anceftor of Sir David's having married, in 1480, a
Lundic of the Lundies of Fyfe, not unlikely a fifter to the wife of Sir
Andrew Wood the Admiral and firft Laird of Largo. The third Laird of
Largo filled this office of Comptroller of Scotland fome years after Wood
of Craig, in 1586; betweén which Woods of Craig and Woods of Bon-
nington, there appears again to have been fome diftant kinfmanthip.

III. Thirdly, of the wife of John Wood, Governor of Man, it may be
feen in the fame Douglas's Baronage, page 204, that fhe was of the family
of Sir John Riddell, Bart. of 1628, of Riddell, Roxburghe, more ancient
than that of Ardnamurchan, being Elizabeth daughter of Robert Riddell of
Glenriddell, by Jean Fergufon of Craigdarrock, which Robert Riddell was
great-grandfon to the fecond Baronet Sir Walter. -‘The elder daughter
of the fame Robert Riddell and Jean Fergufon married her coufin Walter
Riddell of Newhoufe, leaving a fon, the well-known antiquarian, and friend
of Burns, Robert Riddell, alfo called of Glenriddell. Zide p. 71; Douglas’s
Baronage ; and Burke’s Peerage and Baronetage, laft edition.

Of other anceftrefles of the Woods of Largo, whofe precife parentage
ftill remains unafcertained, there is, it feems to me, much reafon to con-
clude that they will be found, fhould the difcovery ever be made, to have
belonged to the families indicated. Of Janet Balfour, there can fcarcely, I
think, be a doubt, that the was either a Balfour of Burleigh, or a Balfour of
Maunghanny, the latter family being entitled additionally Balfour of Balfour,
Barons of Strathor, allin Fifethire. Of Alifon Hume, the wife of the fecond
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Sir Andrew, there is nearly as great a certainty, and fome caufe from the
concurrence of the time, names, and circumftances, to believe that the was
the youngeft daughter of the third Baron Home, who is noted, in the
Peerages, fimply as ¢ Alifon.” In works of this nature, daughters, for the
fake of brevity, are often and neceflarily pafled over altogether, fometimes
names only given, and not unfeldom miftakes are made, as in the inftance of
an anceftrefs of my own children, who, in Burke’s Extiné? Baronetage, is
ftated to have ¢ deceafed unmarried,” full record being omitted likewife of
her fifter, the wife of Sir Anthony Irby. But the faéls are, that this lady,
Sufan, daughter of Sir John Peyton of Ifelham, did not ¢ deceafe unmarried,”
but became the wife of Sir Miles Hobart, Bart., and great-grandmother
to the Earls of Buckinghamihire as well as to other remoter noble families.
Thus it is poflible that as in this cafe, fo there may have been miftake in
that of the Alifon Hume above referred to. Or, if not this lady, fince
names are {o frequently guides to family relationfhips, fhe might have been
one of the Humes of Wedderburne, where, in the family of ¢ the feven
¢ Spears of Wedderburne,” the names of Alice and Alifon are in fome of
the accounts to be obferved as principal family names ; befides which there
were Humes or Homes of Randerfton, Fyfe, Humes afterwards Earls of
Marchmont, and Humes of Polwarth, the furname appearing in that
period to have been indifferently Hume or Home.

In the writings of the time the third Baron Home is fpoken of as ¢ the
¢ Lord Hume,” and in the Parliamentary Records of Scotland of 1526,
kindly fought for me by W. Anderfon, Efq. Marchmont Herald and Lyon
Clerk Depute, there is an entry regarding this nobleman’s youngeft daugh-
ter, in which fhe is named A/ifon Hume, as in the Largo Pedigree, not as
Alifon Home. And in the Scotch A&s of Parliament of the fame year,
there is the fame entry of her again as 4/ifon Hume, the purport of thefe
being to certify that ¢ the Souerane with amifs (advice) and confent of the
«¢ three eftatis of the realm, grantis yat gif it fall happin yat Johune Stride-
¢¢ ling, of ye Keir, Knycht, etc. be forfalted in yis prefent parliament, yat ye
‘ fowen of money, etc. award to 4/ifon Hume, dochter to vmquhile Alex-
“ ander Lord Hume, be referuit (referved) in ye faid forfalture.” In 1528,
to Sir Andrew Wood, fecond Laird of Largo, was granted by charter under
the Great Seal of Scotland, half of the King’s lands of Shiremuir ; and could
more be known of thefe tranfattions, there is great appearance of likelihood
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that proof of identity would enfue, whilft the name of Alexander, fo fre-
quent in all the generations amongft the Woods of Largo fince the time of
James of Lambelethame to the very prefent, appears upon the firft occafion
amongft the fons of the fame Sir Andrew the fecond Laird, and Alifon
Hume his wife, namely, Alexander of Grange, as may be feen by reference
to the Pedigree between pages 26 and 31, which may add another link
in the chain of evidence that fhe was the Alifon Hume fuppofed to be
in queftion, daughter of this Alexander Lord Hume, who commanded the
van with Earl Huntly at Flodden, difperfed the oppofing Englifh, and was
one of the few who efcaped the carnage of that day. He afterwards
joined the Queen Dowager and her hufband Angus, againft the Regent
Albany, vide p. 16 ; and the following year was feized at Court and ex-
ecuted after a hafty trial, his honours and eftates being reftored to his
brother the fourth Baron, (for he left no fon,) in 1522.

To the Browns, of which lineage was my grandfather’s grandmother,
Jean, grand-daughter of the Rev. Robert Ker of Cefsford, there is attached
a fingular fuperftition regardingan ancient family relic called the Coalftoun
Pear, which came to the Browns as a bridal gift, in the 16th century,
with the promife that, o long as it was preferved, profperity fhould never
fail them. It is faid by fome to be fill in exiftence. ¥ide pp.67 and 74.

Of the Kers of Cefsford it may be further interefting to know that in
the Roxburghe Papers in my pofleffion, there is an account of one of thefe
Kers, one Walter Ker, who in the year 1500 made a grant to the Abbey
of Kelfo, having a charter of confirmation for the fame, for this purpofe:
« Pro falute corporis fui, et pro falute animo Robertis Ker, militis filii
“ fui, nuper defun&i,” in which Abbey of Kelfo had been eftablithed by
David I., in the twelfth century, a reformed clafs of the Benedictines, and
in which fame early period the caftle of Roxburghe had been one of the
principal refidences of the kings of Scotland. And in Sibbald’s Mifce/-
lanies may be found many ftatements confirming thofe in thefe papers, of
the ftrife which reigned between the Kers of Cefsford and feveral of the
neighbouring families in the centuries of the medizval era; whilft in later
years there comes again upon the fcene another of the connexions of the
Cefsford Kers, whofe name has acquired a place in hiftory —the beautiful
Mary Bellenden, one of the three celebrated Maries of the Court of
George II., written of by Horace Walpole and others, who was daughter
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of the fecond Lord Bellenden, great-nephew to Earl Robert, the firft Earl
of Roxburghe, and aunt to John Bellenden Gawler Ker, mentioned in
thefe Memorials in page 3, fon of John Gawler, Efq., and Caroline Bellenden,
her younger fifter. .

Information has, moreover, been given to me of another of the Woods
of Largo, Captain Gilbert Wood, who, in Nifbet’s Marks of Cadency,
printed in Edinburgh in 1702, at page 202 is faid *“ to have been great-
¢¢ grandfon of one James Wood, the laft in pofleflion of the eftate of Largo,
« who, for his fkill in maritime affairs, which has appeared on feveral occa-
¢ fions on the coafts of both this and the newly-difcovered world of
¢ America, may juftly be deemed the worthy reprefentative of his brave
¢¢ and gallant progenitors.” When I hear now of this Captain Gilbert
Wood, a forgotten memory revives that it was a name not quite unfamiliar
to my childhood, and fometimes fpoken of at Gatton—where, I may
here take occafion to relate, that in the centre of the baluftrade upon the
houfe, above the entrance door-way, were carved in ftone the arms of
Wood of Largo, of which I have a print fill in good prefervation, and
of which other copies may be found in an illuftrated work upon the man-
fions of Surrey, by an artift of, I think, the name of Proflfer. In the fame
paflage in Nifbet, it is added that this James Wood ¢ fold thefe lands,”
which again makes confufion, unlefs there is again a miftake in names, or
unlefs fome portion of the Largo eftate had fallen to James of Lambelethame
and Cairngour, not impoffibly the fame individual perfon as the above-named
James; and if Captain Gilbert Wood were great-grandfon to James of
Lambelethame, it would bring him thus into not very diftant relationfhip
to the Rev. Alexander, the Epifcopalian clergyman.

Neither muft I neglect to relate of the armorial bearings of the Ifle of
Man, that ¢ the three legs conjoined” are borne in quarterings upon the
fhields of the Dukes of Atholl and the Earls of Dunmore, and the entire
device, with the motto accompanying, upon thofe of the Macleods of Rafey
and the Macleods of Cadboll, the former family being faid to be lineally
defcended from the Barons of Lewis, Lords of the Ifles, to whom, in very
olden days, belonged the Sovereignty of Man. And that the ¢ filver
¢¢ quhiffel” of the valiant Admiral mentioned in thefe Memorials in p. 14,

N
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was in that age ¢ the invariable badge of rank and authority upon the
¢ ocean, being worn by the Captains and Admirals, from whom it has
¢¢ defcended to the Boatfwain in modern times.”

And, furthermore, that of the Admiral’s lands of Balbegnoth, it is ftated
in the Continuation of Douglas’s Baronage, vol. i. p. 141, of the lands of
Balbegno, apparently the identical fame, that ¢ Wood of Balbegno, married,
¢ about 1530, a daughter of the third Earl of Atholl, one of the fifters of
¢ which lady was wife to the Laird of Balfour.,” There can be little
doubt that this Wood of Balbegno was one of the feveral fons of the
Admiral defcribed in Tait’s Memoir, as may be feen herein in page 8, fuch
lands having been given by the father to the fon, as the lands of Nether-
fawfields became the property of his eldeft fon, the fecond Laird ; and the
evidence of friendlinefs continued between the Wood and Atholl families
to the birth of my own grandfather, vide p. 77, and onwards to the
naming of his fon, fubfequently Sir James Atholl, and the appointment
of his coufin-german to the Governorfhip of Man, confirms, at the fame
time, the probability, and fuggefts the caufe alfo of the links that had
in fome manner fo plainly conneéted them.

There were other lands pofleflied by the Woods of Largo a hundred
years later, the lands of Arkie, which in 1610 had belonged to John Lord
Lindfay, and in 1616 to Robert Lord Lindfay, paffing in 1664 to Arnot
of Ferney, apparently from the eftate of John Wood of Largo, which
Arnot married the heirefs of Sir Michael Balfour of Burleigh, by Mar-
garet, daughter of Lundie, of that ilk. /ide Continuation of Douglas,
vol. ii. p. 179. Thus again bringing into communication Lundies, Woods,
and Balfours, as in other places and other accounts they may be
found, together with the family of de Spens of Lathallan.—But it is
becoming impoflible to carry on any longer thefe refearches. Of the
refult of all that they have brought to light of the family of
Wood of Largo, it is gratifying to obferve how greatly fo much in-
cidental mention of circumftances relating to them tends to make more
certain Abercrombie’s aflertion, that their gallant founder, the loyal
Admiral of James III. and James IV. was of ftill more ancient courtly
race, and that, though not ennobled according to our eftimations of nobility
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in England, yet that they doubtlefs ftood amongft the foremoft and higheft
rank of gentlemen, forming alliances, in almoft all their generations, with
feveral of the firft families of Scotland ; whilft of the decadence of their
fortunes in the 17th century, it will be neceflary to make the explanation
more conclufive here, which fhould have been done earlier in page 24, that
this term of “ being conveyed or difpoffefled of eftates, implies no moral
‘¢ wrong in the perfons thus difpofing of their patrimony, fince it is the
¢ Scotch mode of exprefling the parting with landed property either by
¢¢ voluntary or legal fale,” which will abundantly fuffice to free from blame
thofe ancient members of the family, moft probably rendered thus unfor-
tunate only from the unfortunate condition of their country, of which in
that period, befides all before narrated in page 61, Grant in his Life of
Montrofe, Ruflell in his Modern Europe, and other hiftorians fpeak, as with
¢¢ the laws filenced, and rapine, outrage, and violence filling the land.”
And now in thefe clofing words muft I return for a while to times
lefs remote and to a fubjet which has lately again appeared in print
upon the gallant conquerors in the laft century, of India,  bringing
¢ back,” the writer fays, the memory of the early days of Britith
¢ chivalry in the Eaft, to which, more than to anything elfe, England
¢owes her prefent greatnefs,” and in which is fhown the policy of
Warren Haftings, to have been a merciful one towards the Hindoos,
and a juft one towards the Englith. More may be found of this in this
review upon Colonel Goddard’s march acrofs India in 1778, in Bentley’s
Mifcellany for O&tober this year, from page 373 to 385, and alfo in the
Number for November, confirming my father Sir George’s fentiments of
Warren Haftings, and my uncle Sir Mark’s ftatements of the Mahrattas
and the French. Of my father’s words, they are but brief, yet ex-
prefling, neverthelefs, his earneft fympathy in Mr. Haftings's defire for
better government; and ftill more to intereft his children, he writes
of his own participation in the warfare of thofe days,—where, as has
been already mentioned, he was in Rohilcund and the Mahratta country,
engaged in the battle of Kuttra or Kutterah, in April 1774, and in
Malwah and the Gohud, perfonally commanding a fuccefsful affault upon
the Fort of Siparee in 1781, as well as at Lohar, Gwalior, and elfe-
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where, from 1772 to 1782,°—giving unmiftakeable evidence of the true
foldier-fpirit which animated him, and made him not one of the leaft brave
amidft thofe brave leaders of eighty and ninety years ago, of England’s
vi€torious progrefs in Hindoftan. Of his further fervices, they con-
tinued after his appointment by Warren Haftings in 1784, in the
Lower as well as the Upper and Central Provinces of Bengal, almoft
uninterruptedly to the laft Mahratta war of the commencement of this
prefent century, then, with but one abfence in England in 1810, to the
taking of Java in Auguft 1811, where he particularly fignalifed himfelf in
the ftorming of Fort Cornelis, and, finally, to the Ghoorka war of 1814
and 181¢, in .which he appears to have been for the laft time in the
field, his long military life ending within about three years after, in the
lefs arduous duties of the ftaff in Fort William, in 1818.

With regard to this Ghoorka war, it feems incumbent upon me not to pafs
over in filence the comments (of which I have only within this laft month,
December 1862, acquired the knowledge) that have been made by hiftorians
upon its condut by the general officers commanding the different divifions
of the Britith army. Meflrs. Mill, Thornton, and Montgomery Martin,
feem apparently to cenfure all the Generals excepting Major-General Ochter-
lony, as having erred by over-caution, and Major-General Wood (afterwards
Sir George), in that he did not advance as far as might have been defirable,
apprehending ficknefs amongft his troops, thefe, amounting, with the Euro-
pean regiments, to 13,000 in number. No reliable refources are within my
power beyond my father’s own words, in which he fimply fays, that ¢ being

* Excepting the years 1778 to 1779, when he was at the Prefidency, as may be feen
in page §2. The name Kutterah my father writes Cuttrah, giving a flight account
of the a&tion. Siparee is alfo thus written by him, but now marked in the maps,
Sippree, and became well known to his young grandfons in the Rajpootana campaign
confequent on the Indian mutiny of 1857.  Lohar is now marked in the maps as
Lohargunge, this name feeming to imply the Iron Fort, or the Field of the Iron Fort.

+ The Rewah Paffes which he mentions in his journal (page §3) were fcarcely then
known to the Britith. The greater part of the country is defcribed in Hamilton’s Gasetteer
as an elevated table-land, very beautiful in its fcenery, and prefenting, when viewed from
the plains below, the appearance of a fcarped line of fortified heights.
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¢ appointed to this command, he fwept the whole of the Eaftern Ghoorka
‘¢ territory, deftroying feveral ftockades,”® to enlighten or explain the cir-
cumftances; but there is teftimony from other writers, that the now
well-known fever boundary of the Terai, was not a place into which any
Commander, regardful of his officers and his men, would have entered
without a f#ri& neceflity. It does not feem to be proved that fuch neceflity
exifted. Befides, the principal action of the early part of the war had taken
place in Feb. 1815, before my father Major-General Wood+ was able to
join that portion of the army upon the command given to him on the
withdrawal of Major-General Marley. The campaign might have been
more brilliant had the Generals advanced upon Katmundoo, but as they
did not, and appear all to have concurred in objetion, it can fcarcely be
unreafonable to believe that there muft have been fome fufficient caufe for
their felf-reftraint, and for the accompanying decifion of their judgment.

It may, perhaps, be well for me now to obferve wherefore it has
been that I have retained for my father, throughout, the defignation only
of Major-General, when he had attained, in fa&, the higher military
rank of Lieutenant-General, his laft commiffion to that effe® bearing
date July 19, 1821. It has been becaufe by fome miftake of many years
ago, the defignation of Major-General Sir George Wood, K.C.B. was
given to him upon the marble tablet ereted to his memory in the Church
of Addleftone, Surrey, and the miftake being irretrievable, and the matter
in itfelf of no real importance, it feemed to me better that it thould be
continued thus only to entitle him ; but now, in thefe concluding records,
it will be more befitting for his family, I think, and more confiftent with
all that is due for him, that the realities fhould be known.

The war, moreover, is faid to have been one not defired by Lord Moira.
In the Hiffory of the Indian Empir:e, by Montgomery Martin, in vol. i.
page 410, it is expreflly ftated that ¢ Lord Moira had been anxious to
¢¢ avert this frontier war,” but that all his remonftrances failing, he was
at length compelled to declare it in Nov. 1814, by the determination of
the Ghoorkalefe to carry on their aggreflions, and by their attacks upon

* Thefe ftockades were very effe@ive modes of fortifying ftrong pofts, and hill
ridges and peaks, throughout that part of India.

t There was another General Wood employed in the Ghoorkalefe war of this time,
Major-General John Sullivan Wood, but in no way conne&ed with the Largo family.
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the Britifh ftations in Bhootwal, and murder there of the fuperior local
Officer. The army deftined for the purpofe was formed into four divifions,
under Major-Generals John Sullivan Wood, Gillefpie (early killed),
Ochterlony, and Marley, upon whofe retirement it was that General
Wood, my father, was called upon early in Feb. 18135, to take his (General
Marley’s) place; and in default of certain information, it is probable,
that though the more hazardous work of the war and its good fortune have
been truthfully afcribed to General Ochterlony, yet, that when General
Wood reprefents himfelf as ¢ fweeping the whole of Eaftern Ghoorka,” that
he alfo had fome efficient, though lefs notable effe&t in bringing into
annexation to Britith dominion fome of the tribes of thefe predatory
border chiefs. And this would appear to be confirmed by the exprefs fent
to him in the field in Nov. 1815, of which an extraét has been given in
the earlier part of thefe Memorials, in page 54.*

I will only, laftly, mention that Thornton, in his Hj ﬁor_y, in vol. iv.
page 306, befides relating that General Wood apprehended ficknefs
for his troops in the foreft, appears to think that there was no need
for ¢ his long march eaft of Gorruckhpore,” ¢ in which,” he adds,  that
“ no enemies were feen.” That thefe had fled, may have been caufed by the
eftablifhed reputation of the Britith Commanders, and as one of them, Major-
General Wood (Sir George) was there, in the hoftile Ghoorka plains and
hills, ready to do the people battle and maintain the honour of his
Sovereign’s name, but that they had vanifhed, could not in any way
have been occafioned by any fault of his own. And then regarding the
pafles of the Terai, none of thefe hiftorians feem to prove that they were
eafy to difcover, or when difcovered, facile for a large force. Very much
the contrary is to be gathered from all the defcriptions, and if Major-
General Wood had infifted upon penetrating to Katmundoo through
that fatal and difficult region, and half his army had perifhed by
ficknefs, and the remainder been annihilated or compelled to inglorious

* Thefe Ghoorkalefe were the people of a ftate near and partly dependent upon
Nepaul, ¢ between the rivers Teefta and Gogra on the eaft, and the Sutlej on the weft,
¢ including a portion of the foreft of Sal Trees, each tree of which, according to a Ghoor-
¢¢ kalefe faying, is a mine of gold,and of the wild infalubrious land of the Terai.” Thibet
and Tartary lie beyond, and more to the diftant eaft is Laffa, the capital of the Grand Llama.
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retreat, may we not with almoft affurance feel that criticifms bearing now
upon what fome may call excefs of caution, would have been equally
and more juftly beftowed upon its abfence? But of all that may be
further needed to be faid, the following Official Letter will better and
more convincingly fpeak for my father, that he had failed in nothing
that was right in the Ghoorka, or in any other Indian war, than aught
elfe that his children can now defire :—

ComMaNDER-IN-CHIEF's OFFICE,
No. 1555. Hgeap QuarTers, CALCUTTA,
13th November, 1815.

Sir, :

I am inftructed by the Right Honourable the Commander-in-
Chief, to tranfmit the accompanying Paquet, containing the Infignia of a
Knight Commander of the Moft Honourable Order of the Bath, awarded
to you in commemoration of your fervices, by His Royal Highnefs the
Prince Regent.

In the performance of this pleafing duty the Commander-in-Chief
embraces the opportunity prefented him, to exprefs his congratulation that
your fervices have been diftinguifhed by fo honourable and well-merited a
mark of His Royal Highnefs’s approbation and favour.

A warrant of permiffion, duly executed, for wearing the Star, is
herewith tranfmitted.

I have the honour to be,
Sir,
Your moft obedient humble fervant,
C. J. DovLg, M.S.
To Major-Gen. Sir George Wood, &c. &c.
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. a, Having exprefled in thefe Memorials, in my ignorance, that the only remaining des
" - of Largo were thofe named in pages 69 and 78, it is’ neceffary to corre&t the miftake thus
. fallen Into, and to ftate that there is another branch of this family, defcendants of Largo
« and of Grange, refiding in the Eaft Nook of Fyfe, of whom the prefent Rev. Walter
‘Wood of Elie is the head, deriving from the ancient Admiral through one of the anceftors
of Lambelethame. Another family in Americaalfo claim to be of this defcent. And when,
o in the 16th century, the Scottifh wanderers to the fhores of Sweden were firft ennobled
in that land, a Wood ftands amongft them, with a Keith, a *Forbes, a Spens, a
Hamilton, &c. And, laftly, may be mentioned the difcovery, that Alifon wife of the
2d Sir Andrew, was not the daughter of the Baron Home, as there appeared {ome reafon
to conclude, as may be feen herein in page 87, but ghe daughter of Hume of Unthank,
moft likely the Unthank near Berwick, ¢ the country of the Homes ;" and the probable
difcovery alfo of the pagents of the Admiral in the grapt of chiagter refigned in his fa-
vour in 1490, by Ellen’Arnot, widow of Williagg Wood of the Cotglands of Largo, deceafed
o in that fame year, which grant of charter, which i3 ftill extant in the Writers’ Library in
Ediaburgh, coffveyed to- ¢ Andrew Wood and Elizabéth his fpoufe, the fame Cotelands of
Largo, to be held by them of the King.” May not this tranfa&ion, fo natural between
a mother and her fon, render the probability almoft a certaingy? and furthér confirm
Abercrombie’s note, that the gallant Sir Andrew came from the fill more ancient
Woods of Bonnington ? whilft of onward years it is faid, that the family fuffered by théiy -
attachment to the Stuarts, and that when Cromwell’s foldiers were quartered@t Burnt-
ifland, they carried off all the horfes of James Wood of Grange and Lambelethame, the
fon and heir of Alexander and Elizabeth Wemyfs, and that when he died'in 1669, having
been obliged to fell Lambelethame, his funeral was haftened left the creditors fhould arreft
the corpfe— a barbarous right then fometimes exercifed. His fon James was'Rutemafter
(or Ritmafter, 2 German title for the Captain of a Troop, introduced ipto North Britain
from the wars of that period) in Prince Charles’s Life Guard (CharlesJL); apd in 1661
there is ana& of Parliament in his favour for levying a troop of horfe for thg King’s fervice.
The 2d, 3d, and 4th Lairds are, furthermore, faid to appear in the hiftpryof the Church of
Scotland, as fitting in her Affemblies, and affifting them with their counfel and influence.

Tpegreaterpart of thiginformationagbeenkindly given, Feb. 1864, bp theabone
geutleman, the Rev. Walter Rood of Elie, author of the < Eaff Neuk of Fife.”

Qoppright Reserven.
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